## Sex Differences of the Central Amygdala's Immune Response in EAE-Induced Chronic Pain

by

Adam Christopher Wass

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Neuroscience

University of Alberta

© Adam Christopher Wass, 2024

#### Abstract

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease that is characterized by demyelination of central nervous system axons. Symptoms of MS are highly heterogenous, although some, such as motor deficits and chronic pain, are very common in those with the disease. Defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain as pain that persists or recurs for longer than 3 months, chronic pain represents a source of significant reductions in quality of life. To date, however, the underlying mechanisms facilitating chronic pain in MS remain largely unknown. One contributor to chronic pain is the immune system, which, although shown to act differently in males and females, displays converging mechanisms of facilitation of chronic pain. To date, the majority of this work has been performed in the spinal cord, but comparatively little is known about the role of brain-resident immune cells roles in chronic pain or how these cells may influence activity within pain processing regions of the brain. This project aims to characterize the sex differences in the immune response within the central amygdala, a major hub for incoming and outgoing pain signalling. Using a murine model of MS with stereotyped pain behaviours, Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE), I demonstrate that within the amygdala, EAE induced robust cytokine dysregulation. Additionally, using the Four Core Genotype murine model, I show that the observed inflammatory dysregulation was significantly greater in animals with XX sex chromosome complement and/or ovaries. To assess if microglia were the primary drivers for this dysregulation, I assessed microglial morphology, density, and colocalization with cytokines showing sex differences, Cxcl1 and Cxcl10, and found minimal sex differences. However, astrocytes, another immunocompetent glial cell population within the brain, displayed significantly greater colocalization with tested cytokines. Furthermore, I observed a significant upregulation of *Gfap*+ astrocytes in the central amygdala of female EAE mice, but not males. Together, this study suggests that astrocytes may contribute to a greater extent than microglia to the sex differences in EAE-induced inflammation within the central amygdala.

#### Preface

This thesis is an original work by Adam C. Wass. This research project was approved by the Alberta Research Ethics Board and was conducted under the supervision of Dr. Anna Taylor, Dr. Bradley Kerr, and Dr. Jesse Jackson. All experiments involving laboratory animals were in compliance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and followed protocols approved by the University of Alberta Health Sciences Animal Care and Use Committee (AUP#00000274; AUP0002493). This research project received funding support from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (Canadian Graduate Scholarship – Master's).

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my family, without whom I wouldn't be where I am today. Your support through the years has been everything.

To my supervisor, Dr. Anna Taylor, and my committee members, Dr. Bradley Kerr & Dr. Jesse Jackson, I want to extend my deepest thanks. I cannot emphasize enough how grateful I am to have worked under your guidance. I am very fortunate to have had you all as mentors over these past years.

To my colleagues, Christian and Julia, I will miss our chats, even if I know the productivity of the lab will increase when I leave. I could not have asked for better friends to work with for the past several years. Julia, you have, partly against my will, taught me a great deal about science; this project would not have been possible without you. Christian, I am grateful to have had you to teach me many lab protocols. Importantly, my mental health thanks both of you. You are great scientists, and I am confident you will do great things. Don't cry too long when I leave.

I also want to thank my first mentor, Caylin, who was there to provide guidance not only during my undergraduate degree but also during the beginning of my Master's. Many of my early experiences with research were made substantially better by both your presence and endless desire to help.

I consider myself to be a very lucky person and much of this comes from the presence of many kind and loving people that have left a positive impact on my life.

### **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. PAIN	2
1.2. THE CENTRAL NUCLEUS OF THE AMYGDALA IN PAIN	4
1.3. THE IMMUNE SYSTEM'S ROLE IN CHRONIC PAIN	6
1.4. SEXUAL DIMORPHISMS IN THE GENERATION OF CHRONIC PAIN	7
1.5. Sex Differences in MS and EAE	8
1.6. AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS	10
CHAPTER 2: FOUR CORE GENOTYPE MOUSE MODEL IN EAE	12
2.1. INTRODUCTION	13
2.2. MATERIALS & METHODS	15
2.2.1. Animals	16
2.2.2. Behaviour	16
2.2.3. Post-Mortem	17
2.2.4. Statistics	19
2.3. RESULTS	20
2.3.1. FCG mice demonstrate typical presymptomatic progression of EAE	21
2.3.2. The inflammatory response between FCG and WT C57BI/6J mice display minimal	
differences	24
2.4. DISCUSSION	26
2.4.1. Four Core Genotype mice in a model of EAE	27
2.4.2 The FCG inflammatory response to EAE within the brain is comparable to that of	
C57BI/6J mice	29
CONNECTING TEXT: CHAPTER 2 AND CHAPTER 3	34
CHAPTER 3: SEX DIFFERENCES IN THE IMMUNE RESPONSE OF THE CEA IN EAE	35
3.1. INTRODUCTION	36
3.2. MATERIALS & METHODS	39
3.2.1. Animals	40
3.2.2. Post-Mortem	41
3.2.3. Statistics	43
3.3. RESULTS	44
3.3.1. Female gonadal or chromosome complement is associated with greater dysregulat	ion
of inflammation within the amygdala	45
3.3.2. Male and female microglia differ minimally in EAE	47

3.3.3. II1 $eta$ and Tnf $lpha$ predominately colocalize with microglia in EAE, but Cxcl1 and Cxcl10 do
not50
3.3.4. Cxcl1 and Cxcl10 primarily colocalize with Gfap+ astrocytes in the CeA
3.3.5. Gfap+ astrocytes are increased in the CeA of XXF mice in EAE, but not in XYM mice 56
<b>3.3.6. Few immune cells infiltrate into the CeA at EAE disease onset</b>
3.4. DISCUSSION
3.4.1. EAE induces cytokine dysregulation within the amygdala60
3.4.2. Female phenotypes and genotypes are associated with greater inflammation within the
amygdala62
<b>3.4.3. Microglia largely do not exhibit sex differences in the CeA in EAE</b>
3.4.4. Microglia upregulate mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines within the CeA
without sex effect in EAE
3.4.5. Astrocytes potentially mediate the sex-dependent differences in inflammatory milieu of
the CeA in EAE
<i>3.4.6. There are minimal infiltrating immune cells in the CeA at EAE disease onset</i> 72
CONCLUSION75
BIBLIOGRAPHY76
APPENDIX

## List of Tables

Table 1	24
Table 2	25

# List of Figures

Fig. 1	23
Fig. 2	46
Fig. 3	
- Fig. 4	50
Fig. 5	
Fig. 6	
Fig. 7	
- Fig. 8	
Fig. 9	
0 -	

## List of Supplementary Figures

Fig. 3	51	94
	52	
	53	
	54	
Fig. 3	S5	96
Fig. 3	56	98
Fig. 3	67	99
Fig. 3	58	01
Fig. 3	591	01

## List of Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance		
ACC	Anterior cingulate cortex		
BBB	Blood-brain barrier		
BLA	Basolateral amygdala		
CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4		
CD45	Cluster of differentiation 45		
CeA	Central nucleus of the amygdala		
CFA	Complete Freund's Adjuvant		
CNS	Central nervous system		
DAPI	4'6-diamidino-2-phenylindole		
DRG	Dorsal root ganglia		
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis		
FCG	Four core genotypes		
FISH	Fluorescent <i>in situ</i> Hybridization		
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid		
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein		
IBA-1	Ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1		
IC	Internal capsule		
IHC	Immunohistochemistry		
ITGAM	Integrin subunit alpha M		
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide		
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
MS	Multiple Sclerosis		
PFA	Paraformaldehyde		
ΡΚϹδ	Protein kinase C delta		
PRT	Paw response threshold		
S1	Somatosensory cortex		
SEM	Standard error of the mean		
Som	Somatostatin		
TLR	Toll-like receptor		
XXF	XX sry-; Chromosome complement XX with ovaries		
XXM	XX sry+; Chromosome complement XX with testes		
XYF	XY sry-; Chromosome complement XY with ovaries		
XYM	XY sry+; Chromosome complement XY with testes		
WT	Wildtype		

Chapter 1: General Introduction

#### 1.1. Pain

Pain is a fundamentally beneficial bodily response, typically playing a critical role in the health and safety of the those who experience it. Although an unpleasant experience, pain promotes the cessation of harmful activities and encourages greater care to prevent further harm from occurring. Grasping a steaming hot kettle will not only elicit the reflexive removal of the hand from the kettle to prevent further tissue damage but will also result in a throbbing burning pain that serves as a potent negative reinforcer. This process involves a wide array of neural circuitry from the periphery to the brain that sums to both the sensory and emotional aspects of pain. Under normal circumstances, the experience of pain is transient, resolving alongside wound healing. However, in some cases, the tissue heals but the pain remains; in other instances, the generation of pain is entirely divorced from any kind of tissue damage, instead arising from dysfunction within the circuitry responsible for pain processing. In these cases, the experience of pain ceases to provide any benefit to the sufferer and becomes pathological in nature. The chronification of this pathological pain presents enormous social and economic issues. Afflicting 1 in 4 adults in Canada, chronic pain boasted an economic burden of \$40 billion in 2019 (Canadian Pain Task Force, 2020). Globally, chronic pain conditions comprise 4 of the top 10 causes for years lived with disability (Rice et al., 2016). As chronic pain conditions are known to plague older populations more than younger, the need to find effective therapeutics to alleviate chronic pain states will only be exacerbated as the global population continues to increase in age (Fayaz et al., 2016; Zimmer et al., 2022). Additionally, as chronic pain disproportionally effects women more than men and the majority of research to date has been performed in male subjects, our development of pain therapeutics is hindered by the fact that we still lack an understanding of the potential sex differences that may exist in the generation and persistence of chronic pain (Osborne & Davis, 2022).

Pain is a multidimensional process with many different causes along a social, psychological, and biological spectrum (Cohen et al., 2021). The social environment is a unique mediator of pain as it does not require prospective harm to the self but is largely linked to the emotional experience of pain. In humans, it has been shown that simply witnessing the pain of a partner is sufficient to activate multiple regions of the brain that are typically activated in the presence of a noxious stimulus (Singer et al., 2004). Specifically, activation of regions important in the emotional processing of pain, such as the anterior insula

and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), was found to be elicited via both the knowledge that one's partner was in pain as well as during the personal experience of pain. On the other hand, activation of the somatosensory cortex was specific to the experience of being in pain, indicating that knowing one's partner was in pain preferentially elicits the emotional aspects of pain but not the sensory. This social transfer of pain has also been demonstrated in mice, where mice housed within the same cage or even the same room as other mice experiencing pain will similarly develop a hyperalgesic phenotype (Smith et al., 2016). The same phenomenon has also been observed for the analgesic effects of morphine and has been shown to be mediated, at least in part, via ACC projections to the nucleus accumbens, suggesting that the activation of regions important in emotion and empathy is a major driver in the social transfer of pain in mice as well (Smith et al., 2021).

The degree to which a noxious stimulus is regarded as painful is dictated by how much attention is paid to the stimulus, the interpretation of the stimulus, the emotions that are currently being experienced, and many other psychological processes that can either enhance or diminish the degree to which pain is experienced (Linton et al., 2011). Many chronic pain diseases are comorbid with mood disorders such as depression, indicating a strong relationship between the two (Rodriguez-Lozano et al., 2022; Tölle et al., 2006). Depression has been reported to be as high as 56% in patients experiencing chronic pain (Bair et al., 2003) and in rodents the induction of chronic pain similarly induces depressivelike behaviours (Šutulović et al., 2023). While the psychological link to chronic pain is well established, the causal relationship remains undefined, underscoring the need to find neural correlates at a basic physiological level.

The sensory aspect of pain, or nociception, functions to communicate to the brain when potential or actual tissue damage is occurring. At a basic level, noxious pain signals are transmitted to the spinal cord via primary sensory neurons which synapse on secondary neurons. These signals are then propagated up the spinal cord to the brain for further processing. Once this information is communicated to the brain, a wide array of brain regions are recruited to integrate all of the available internal and external sensory information, ultimately dictating the perception of this pain at both a conscious and unconscious level (Bliss et al., 2016). This cortical pain network consists of structures such as the cingulate, frontal, and the somatosensory cortices that all act together to provide information about the

painful stimulus and generate a physiological response to the stimulus (Fenton et al., 2015). In chronic pain states, however, there is decreased emphasis on these cortical regions and a greater recruitment of subcortical ones, particularly the limbic system (Baliki & Apkarian, 2015). In a longitudinal study following 39 patients as they transitioned from subacute back pain to chronic back pain, Hashmi et al. (2013) used functional magnetic resonance imaging to demonstrate that brain activity in patients with chronic pain shifted from sensory regions to limbic regions such as the amygdala. Long known for its importance in emotion and memory, the amygdala is a major integration hub for painful information. Multiple subnuclei within the amygdala are involved in pain processing, but the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA) in particular has attracted a considerable amount of attention in the last decade for its ability to modulate the experience of pain.

#### 1.2. The Central Nucleus of the Amygdala in Pain

In line with the colloquial knowledge pertaining to the amygdala, the CeA was initially known as a locus for fear and anxiety (Davis M, 1992; Rosen & Schulkin, 1998). Early manipulations of the CeA were primarily performed via insertion of the rodent stress hormone, corticosterone, directly into the nucleus, facilitating an anxiogenic effect (Meerveld et al., 2001; Shepard et al., 2000). As time has progressed, however, the CeA has become more implicated in pain. The CeA receives information about pain via two distinct neuronal circuits (Neugebauer V, 2015). Processed pain information entering the CeA originates indirectly from the thalamus which provides inputs to the CeA via its projections to the basolateral amygdala. The second, more direct pathway consists of spinal projections to the parabrachial nucleus in the brainstem, which in turn projects directly into the lateral and capsular subdivisions of the CeA, after which the signal is sent out of the CeA or to the medial subdivision of the CeA for further processing before exit. The CeA serves as the primary output centre of the amygdala, sending signals to the brainstem, hypothalamus, and basal forebrain regions, modulating pain at both the sensory and cortical level (Neugebauer et al., 2020). Interestingly, the behavioural effect of these processes appears to be lateralized. The right CeA has been shown to be predominately pro-nociceptive, whereas the left CeA's function remains more contentious, having been found to be less pro-nociceptive than the right CeA, antinociceptive, or having no effect on pain at all (Allen et al., 2021).

In various pain models, the CeA has been shown to be active in response to noxious stimuli (Gonçalves & Dickenson, 2012; Ji et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2019). With technological advancements, specific pain-related cell populations have been uncovered, allowing for a more thorough dissection of the neuronal cells that are involved in pain processing. Corticotropin releasing factor expressing neurons within the CeA have been implicated in nociceptive processing but seem to play a more significant role in the emotional components of pain (Mazzitelli et al., 2021; Mazzitelli et al., 2022; Regev et al., 2012). Recently, two other GABAergic neuronal cell populations within the CeA, neurons positive for either protein kinase C  $\delta$  (PKC $\delta$ ) or somatostatin (Som), have been shown to play a role in nociceptive processing and are dysregulated in neuropathic pain (Adke et al., 2021; Wilson et al., 2019). Chemogenetic activation of PKC $\delta$ + neurons was able to induce mechanical hypersensitivity, while inhibition resulted in attenuation of nociceptive responses following sciatic nerve cuffing. Conversely, the chemogenetic inhibition of Som+ neurons resulted in a decrease in the mechanical nociceptive thresholds of naïve mice and a rise in the mechanical thresholds of mice experiencing neuropathic pain following chemogenetic activation. Together, the various neuronal populations of the CeA seem to work in concert to modify both the affective and sensory components of pain. However, how these neurons become dysregulated in chronic pain remains to be elucidated. Additionally, despite sex differences being noted in multiple pain-relevant pathways that involve the CeA (Cantu et al., 2022; Long et al., 2016; Presto & Neugebauer, 2022) many works continue to be performed in male subjects only, leaving gaps in the literature in how the CeA is modulated in chronic pain in both sexes.

While neurons have received the lion's share of the attention regarding the changes in chronic pain within the brain and the CeA specifically, increasing emphasis is being placed on the role of the immune system in chronic pain. Microgliosis has been observed within the CeA in rodent models of chronic pain conditions (Dworsky-Fried et al., 2022; Fülöp et al., 2023; Nascimento et al., 2023; Yuan et al., 2020). Microglia have been shown to interact with CeA neurons in stress-related conditions via synaptic remodeling (Chen et al., 2024; Yuan et al., 2021). Synaptic pruning is, however, only one function of microglia and their other functions, such as cytokine production, have yet to be thoroughly explored in the CeA in chronic pain.

#### 1.3. The Immune System's Role in Chronic Pain

For several decades it has been shown that immune cells and neurons communicate in chronic pain conditions to facilitate and perpetuate pain states. Peripheral immune cells can be divided into two broad classes: cells of the innate immune system and cells of the adaptive immune system. Innate immune cells mount rapid and unbiased attacks on molecules that could be deemed hazardous to the host and consist predominately of phagocytic cells, namely macrophages, neutrophils, eosinophils, and basophils. Adaptive immune cells, alternatively, are primarily composed of lymphocytes that respond specifically to pathogens to rid the host of it. In acute inflammation induced by, for example, a skin lesion, immune cells will localize to the injury site and release several inflammatory mediators that result in a stereotyped response including swelling, redness, and pain (Kandel et al., 2021).

In contrast to the periphery, the central nervous system (CNS) is an immune-privileged organ: the blood brain barrier (BBB) prevents most molecules and cells in the blood from permeating into the CNS parenchyma, protecting it from potentially damaging substances. As peripheral immune cells are restricted from entering the CNS under physiological conditions, the CNS requires a population of resident immune cells to keep the host healthy. The archetypal immune cell in the CNS is the microglia, but other cells, such as astrocytes, can also serve immune functions. In terms of morphology and immunoreactivity, microglia resemble peripheral macrophages although they have greater functional range (Perry & Teeling, 2013). Microglia are continuously surveying the brain parenchyma and responding to their surroundings to maintain homeostasis within the CNS. As CNS pathology is highly heterogenous and can result from a wide variety of factors such as stroke, injury, or neurodegeneration, the microglial response to insult must also be highly heterogenous. This adds a significant degree of complexity to the role of microglia in the facilitation of pain, for which most research has been done in the spinal cord. Additionally, injury to the CNS is not required for microglial reactivity in chronic pain conditions, as first shown in 1999 by Fu et al., who demonstrated that microglial immunoreactivity in the rat spinal dorsal horn increases following hind paw injection of formalin, adding further need to understand the function of microglia in pain.

Microglia have been shown to play a role in central sensitization in the spinal cord, the increased responsiveness of spinal nociceptive neurons to their normal or subthreshold afferent input (International

Association for the Study of Pain). Microglia have been shown to play a critical role in spinal nociceptor activation, releasing several pain-facilitating factors. In 2005, Coull et al. showed that microglial BDNF is released following peripheral nerve injury and that this BDNF binds to TrkB on neurons to facilitate increased excitability in lamina I neurons. Similarly, microglial IL-1 $\beta$  can bind to neuronal IL-1R to enhance glutamatergic signalling (Inoue & Tsuda, 2018). Following spared nerve injury, microglial TNF $\alpha$  is critical in the neuronal remodelling of the spinal cord (Liu et al., 2017). Liu et al. (2017) also showed that inhibition or ablation of microglia within the spinal cord was able to attenuate the pain in their spared nerve injury model, providing further support to the notion that microglia are incredibly important to the development and facilitation of pain. However, this study, like many others, was performed exclusively in male mice. The predominant use of male mice in this study and many others poses an issue in our understanding of the role of the immune system in pain, as an ever-growing body of literature suggests that, while pain phenotypes are often conserved between sexes, the mechanistic processes by which males and females generate pain may be different.

#### 1.4. Sexual Dimorphisms in the Generation of Chronic Pain

It has been well established that chronic pain is more common in women than it is in men (Osborne & Davis, 2022). Despite this and increased mandates by funding agencies to incorporate both sexes in studies, there remains a male bias in most fields of research (Beery & Zucker, 2011). Immunology represents one of the few fields with a bias towards female subjects, in part due to an overwhelming majority of autoimmune diseases being more prevalent in women than men. However, the study of chronic pain, a sex-biased disease with known immune system involvement, has an extensive history of male-biased research. Mogil and Chanda (2005) reported that in the ten years leading up to 2005, 8 in every 10 studies published in *Pain* were performed in male subjects exclusively. This has contributed to a historical lack of understanding of the dissociable mechanisms by which males and females develop and maintain pain.

Within the past ten years there has been an increase of studies showcasing sexual dimorphisms in the neuroimmune contributions to pain. One of the early studies showcasing a stark contrast between the mechanisms facilitating pain in males and females demonstrated that spinal microglia mediated mechanical hypersensitivity following spared nerve injury in male mice, but not in females (Sorge et al., 2015). Instead, female mechanical hypersensitivity was reported to be dependent on infiltrating T cells. This was particularly interesting considering that the presentation of pain was the same in both sexes. Since then, several studies have been performed demonstrating additional neuroimmune sexual dimorphisms within the spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia (DRG) in neuropathic pain models (Berta et al., 2016; Lopes et al., 2017; Luo et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2021). In contrast, only two studies have evaluated neuroimmune sex differences in pain-relevant regions of the brain of animals experiencing chronic pain, representing a major gap in pain literature. Two weeks following spared nerve injury, Michailidis et al. (2021) showed that microglial proliferation differed in the contralateral ventral ACC between females and males, although functional ramifications of this were not investigated. Using experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a central neuropathic pain model, Dworsky-Fried et al., (2022) demonstrated that microglial activation within the CeA resulted in reduced morphine analgesic efficacy in female but not male mice. As microglia in these supraspinal pain-relevant regions have largely been unexplored in either sex, neuroimmune interactions have yet to be elucidated.

#### 1.5. Sex Differences in MS and EAE

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a chronic, progressive disease more common in women that is characterized by demyelination of axons via an autoimmune attack within the CNS (Whitacre C., 2001). This disease is associated with a myriad of different symptoms including motor deficits, sensory aberrations, and cognitive impairment (McGinley et al., 2021). Among the many sensory aberrations, pain is a very common symptom in MS, afflicting more than half of all patients (Österberg et al., 2005). EAE is the most widely used murine model of MS and mimics many of the symptoms including progressive motor dysfunction and pain (Constantinescu et al., 2011). Motor dysfunction due to corticospinal axon demyelination and degradation manifests in an ascending order where the animal first experiences tail paralysis, commonly termed disease onset, before sequentially losing motor function of the hindlimbs and eventually the forelimbs. Prior to the presentation of these motor deficits, the animal will be hypersensitive to multiple sensory modalities, allowing for the of use of this model to study pain (Olechowski et al., 2009). As in the clinical population (Hirsh et al., 2009), there does not appear to be a sex difference in the

degree of pain experienced between males and females. However, despite similar behavioural phenotypes in the murine models of MS, the physiological processes that occur between male and female animals are different, particularly in regions that facilitate pain.

The DRG are the collection of cell bodies of sensory neurons that send both noxious and nonnoxious information into the spinal cord from the periphery. Although EAE is considered to be predominately a disease of the CNS, the peripherally located DRG have also been shown to be dysregulated (Yousuf et al., 2019). Maguire et al. (2022) showed that sex differences exist in the degree of infiltrating immune cells of the DRG and that female and male DRG neurons respond differently to TNF $\alpha$ , a pleiotropic cytokine that is upregulated in EAE. Similarly, the degree of differentially dysregulated genes within the DRG in EAE has been shown to be greater in females (Friedman et al., 2019). This dysregulation in females was intimately associated with the immune system, with upregulations of several important immune genes, whereas in males the few dysregulated genes in EAE largely corresponded to transport, identifying that the immune system may display a greater degree of dysregulation in females in EAE. These studies suggest that not only do females display greater inflammatory responses in EAE than males, but that the responses of peripheral neurons to this inflammation also differs.

EAE is characterized by infiltration of immune cells into the CNS which subsequently mount an immune response against the myelin that surrounds the axons of neurons. At the level of the spinal cord, the activation of both infiltrating and resident immune cells, as well as the degree of demyelination that this autoimmunity results in, has been shown to differ between sexes. At EAE disease onset, when the mice lose motor function in their tails, male mice have greater astrogliosis and axonal damage than female mice do despite similar degrees of immune cell infiltration (Catuneanu et al., 2019). Conversely, at 20 days post-EAE induction, Wiedrick et al. (2021) found greater immune cell infiltration and demyelination in females compared to males. These authors also found that males displayed significantly greater chemokine expression in EAE than females, in contrast to what was found in the DRG by Friedman et al. (2019), although this may be due to the collection of tissue at a later timepoint (20 days vs. disease onset). Importantly, these studies demonstrate no sex differences in behavioural phenotype, indicating that, despite the differences in immune dysregulation between both sexes, there are convergent yet dissociable mechanisms facilitating EAE disease and pain.

While there is an increasing collection of studies showing sex differences in the immune response to EAE in peripheral and lower-order CNS structures like the DRG and spinal cord, the brain remains largely unexplored in terms of its role in pain in EAE. Given the increased prevalence of mood disorders concurrent with MS and the overlapping neurocircuitry between the emotion and pain circuitry, investigating the alterations within the brain that occur in MS is paramount to successful treatment of pain in patients with MS (Schubert & Foliart, 1993). The amygdala, and particularly the CeA, is well positioned to be involved in not only the nociceptive aspects of pain in MS, but also the affective. As a model of central neuropathic pain in MS, EAE has been shown to alter microglial and neuronal activity within the CeA in a sex dependent manner, though the immune mechanisms behind changes within this region in EAE have yet to be characterized.

#### 1.6. Aims and Hypothesis

Given the current lack of effective treatment for chronic pain in MS, there is a significant need to understand the dissociable mechanisms by which men and women develop and maintain chronic pain states in this disease. Sex differences in the immune system have been shown in the facilitation of chronic pain, suggesting that treatments must address the sex-specific alterations that occur. By using EAE, an inflammatory autoimmune pain model with known sex differences, this project aims to increase our understanding of the immune dysregulation that occurs within a highly influential pain locus, the CeA. To do this, we had 3 goals:

Aim 1: Evaluate the sex differences in the inflammatory milieu of the CeA in EAE.

Aim 2: Evaluate the sex differences in microglial response to EAE in the CeA.

**Aim 3**: Assess other tissue-resident and infiltrating immune cells in the CeA as potential contributors to the inflammatory response.

I hypothesized that <u>females would exhibit a greater inflammatory response within the central</u> <u>amygdala in EAE, and that this response would be primarily driven by microglia.</u>

In anticipation of unveiling sex differences in the inflammatory milieu within the CeA, we utilized the Four Core Genotype (FCG) model to discern the origins of the differences. As such, we first validated the use of FCG mice in EAE to study the presymptomatic characteristics of the disease as well as the immunological response at EAE onset.

Chapter 2: Four Core Genotype Mouse Model in EAE

#### 2.1. Introduction

When sex is determined to be a relevant biological variable, sex hormones are often assumed to be the most likely culprit. However, due to the ability of some genes on the X chromosome to escape Xinactivation, sex differences can also originate from sex chromosome gene expression due to females having higher expression of these X-linked genes. Dissociating the influence of these factors is difficult and has historically been performed using gonadectomy, which neglects the influence of sex hormones on development. To attempt to better dissociate the influence of sex chromosomes and sex hormones, the FCG mouse model was made (Arnold & Chen, 2009). Briefly, the testes-determining, Sry gene was deleted from the Y chromosome and inserted onto chromosome 3, making an XY male where the Sry gene is independent of the Y chromosome. This male is then bred with a wildtype (WT) C57Bl/6J female, producing offspring with an XX or XY chromosome complement, wherein each genotype can possess either ovaries or testes due to the dissociation of the Sry gene from the Y chromosome. Consequently, the FCG model consists of the following four genotypes: XXSry-, XXSry+, XYSry-, and XYSry+ wherein the presence of the Sry gene determines whether the animal appears phenotypically female or male, independent of sex chromosome complement. In this model, if a difference is found between mice expressing XX and XY sex chromosomes, regardless of Sry expression, then the difference is considered to be due to sex chromosomes; if a difference is found between animals having ovaries and testes, regardless of sex chromosomes, the difference is considered to be due to sex hormones.

This mouse model has been used in dozens of publications in many different fields, including three studies that utilize the model in EAE. Published in 2008, the first of these three studies was also one of the earliest uses of the FCG model, demonstrating that the XX chromosome complement conferred greater EAE severity in SLJ mice and increased immune cell infiltration into the spinal cord, but not in the C57BI/6J mouse line, suggesting an interplay of sex chromosome gene expression with strain-specific genes (Smith-Bouvier et al.). Elaborating on this work 11 years later, Itoh et al. (2019) found that two X-linked histone demethylases escaped X-inactivation in CD4+ T cells from XX FCG C57BI/6J mice, resulting in genome-wide consequences on immune response in EAE. In the latest study to use the FCG model in EAE, Doss et al. (2021) used a C57BI/6J FCG mouse line crossed with a non-obese diabetic strain to study chronic progressive EAE. The authors found that T helper cells transmit greater EAE

severity in FCG C57BI/6J males due to sex-specific downregulation of the X-linked KDM5c gene in Th17 cells. These studies have largely focused on the disease course of EAE and exclusively used mice in the chronic disease stage of the EAE model. However, the ability to detect and quantify EAE-induced pain hypersensitivity is largely limited to the presymptomatic stage of the disease, prior to motor loss, which is currently mostly uncharacterized (Dworsky-Fried et al., 2022; Olechowski et al., 2009). As such, we aimed to establish that the early characteristics of EAE in FCG mice, including time to onset, weight loss, and nociceptive behaviours, were in line with that of WT C57BI/6J males and females.

Recently, an X-Y gene translocation has been found in the FCG mice, leading some to question the validity of the model (Panten et al., 2023). The authors of this study demonstrate that this gene translocation is associated with alterations in the peripheral immune cells of the FCG XXF and XYM mice compared to WT C57BI/6J females and males, respectively, raising concerns about the use of the FCG model in studies investigating sex differences in the immune system. Given that we sought to compare the behavioural responses of presymptomatic EAE FCG mice, we opted to characterize the central presymptomatic immune response as well in order to validate our immunological findings in the FCG model with WT C57BI/6J mice. To investigate the immune response, we evaluated cytokine expression in EAE at both a protein and mRNA level in various pain-related regions. As EAE models a demyelinating disease, we also characterized the immune response within a major white matter tract, the internal capsule (IC). Given the previous findings using the FCG mice in EAE, we hypothesized that the FCG mice would display normal EAE disease course characteristic of female and male C57BI/6J mice, and that the immune response would similarly be on par. Behaviourally, we find that FCG mice follow the expected EAE disease course, though we do present evidence that the gonadal females may differ from WT females. In terms of immune response, we find very few unexplainable strain differences, suggesting that there are minimal differences in immune response to EAE between FCG and WT C57BI/6J mice within several pain-related regions of the brain.

2.2. Materials & Methods

#### 2.2.1. Animals

#### Four Core Genotype Mice:

Male C57BI/6J mice with the *Sry* gene (129-derived), responsible for testes development, translocated from the Y chromosome to chromosome 3 (provided by Dr. Arthur Arnold, UCLA) were bred with WT C57BI/6J females to generate FCG mice. This permits the production of four groups of mice: gonadal females and gonadal males with either XX or XY sex chromosomes, allowing the dissociation of hormonal vs chromosomal sex effects. Mice were backcrossed onto a C57BI/6J background for a minimum of eighteen generations. FCG mice ranged between 15-50 weeks in age.

#### Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Induction:

To induce EAE, reagents provided by Hooke Laboratories (Cat. #: EK-2110) were used. Mice were subcutaneously administered myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein amino acids 35-55 (MOG<sub>35-55</sub>; 50  $\mu$ g/animal) emulsified in an inflammatory agent, Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA; 50  $\mu$ L). Mice were given an intraperitoneal injection of pertussis toxin (100 ng) on the day of immunization and again 24 hours later. Control mice received subcutaneous injections of CFA and the subsequent intraperitoneal pertussis injections at the same times as the EAE mice.

#### Animal Ethics:

All animal procedures were conducted in compliance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and Policies, with approval from the University of Health Sciences Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Alberta. Mice were housed in standard wire-top cages (1-5 per cage) in a temperature- and humidity-controlled environment with water and food was available *ad libitum*. Mice were kept on a 12-hour light/dark cycle and all experiments were performed during the light cycle.

#### 2.2.2. Behaviour

#### EAE Behaviour:

EAE disease severity is classified on a five-point scale. A grade of 1 is considered disease onset where the animal first shows signs of motor deficits in the form of tail paralysis. A grade of 2 is characterized as having mild hindlimb weakness. A grade of 3 is severe hindlimb weakness in one or both hindlimbs, where the animal struggles to support body weight on the hind limb. A grade of 4 is full paralysis of the hindlimbs. A grade of 5 is hindlimb and forelimb paralysis.

FCG mice (N=29 XXF, N=37 XXM, N=35 XYF, N=29 XYM) were weighed and monitored daily. Mechanical thresholds were assessed prior to disease induction and at disease onset (ie. tail paralysis), after which the animal was euthanized, and the brains were collected. Animals that did not show signs of disease onset by 20 days post-induction were assessed for mechanical thresholds and euthanized at that time. A genotype-matched CFA control animal was euthanized at the same time as each experimental animal on the day of onset. Mechanical hypersensitivity was assessed via von Frey filaments prior to EAE induction and at disease onset (grade 1). Thermal tail hypersensitivity was assessed on days 8, 9 or 13 post-induction via tail flick assay.

#### Von Frey Filaments:

Hind paw mechanical thresholds were assessed using the Up-Down method with von Frey filaments (Chaplan et al., 1994). Briefly, a 0.4 g filament was pressed into the hind paw and the reaction of the mouse was observed (no reaction or paw withdrawal). If the mouse did not respond to the mechanical stimulus, a higher force filament was applied until a pain response was observed, at which point the filament force was reduced. This process occurred four more times until five consecutive responses after the first positive response was recorded. These 5 responses were used to calculate the 50% positive response threshold for that hind paw – a measure of the mechanical nociceptive threshold of that mouse. Left and right hind paw thresholds were averaged for a single average for each animal. *Tail Flick Assay*:

Mice were gently restrained in a soft conical tube and the distal inch of the tail was submerged in 49°C water. Time to withdraw the tail from the water was recorded. Reported tail withdrawal times for each mouse represent an average of three tail withdrawal tests, separated by 20 minutes each.

#### 2.2.3. Post-Mortem

#### Luminex Multiplex Immunoassay

Following disease onset, a FCG EAE mouse and a genotype-matched CFA control were euthanized using pentobarbital, and brains were immediately removed following transcardial perfusion

17

with saline (0.9% NaCl). Brains were placed in a brain block and 2 mm punches corresponding to the amygdala and primary somatosensory cortex were collected and flash frozen on dry ice before being stored at -80°C. Punches were homogenized in tissue extraction reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Burlington, ON, Canada) and the protein concentration of each sample was standardized to 2 mg/ml. Samples were sent to Eve Technologies (Calgary, AB, Canada) where a Luminex multiplex immunoassay was performed to observe the concentration of 45 different cytokines within each sample.

For WT C57BI/6J Luminex analyses (N=9 females, N=18 males), some minor differences in protocol occurred. Following disease onset, the EAE mouse was euthanized, and brains were immediately removed following saline perfusion. CFA control mice were euthanized on day 20 postinduction. Brains were then flash frozen and stored at -80°C in Tissue Tek Optimal Cutting Temperature (O.C.T.<sup>™</sup>) compound (Fischer Scientific, Edmonton, AB, Canada). To obtain amygdalar samples, tissue was thawed and O.C.T.<sup>™</sup> compound was removed prior to placement of the brain in a brain block for collection of 2 mm amygdala punches. Punches were homogenized in tissue extraction reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Burlington, ON, Canada) and the protein concentration of each sample was standardized to 1 mg/ml. Samples were sent to Eve Technologies (Calgary, AB, Canada) where a Luminex multiplex immunoassay was performed to observe the concentrations of 45 different cytokines within each sample.

#### RNAscope Fluorescent in situ Hybridization (FISH):

Following euthanasia and transcardial perfusion with saline (0.9% NaCl), brains were immediately flash frozen on dry ice into cryomolds for the cryosectioning of 12  $\mu$ m sections. Slides containing the slices were immersed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) at 4°C for 15 minutes followed by 4 subsequent dehydrations in ethanol at room temperature for 5 minutes each (50%, 70%, 100%, 100%). Slides were allowed to air-dry for 5 minutes at room temperature and a hydrophobic barrier was drawn around the tissue using an Immedge® Hydrophobic Barrier PAP Pen. RNAscope Protease III (ACDbio) was added to each slide and the tissue was allowed to incubate for 30 minutes at room temperature. Slides were then washed in 1X phosphate-buffered saline twice. One hundred  $\mu$ L of an RNAscope probe (ACDbio) cocktail for targeted mRNA (Glial fibrillary acidic protein (*Gfap*) to label astrocytes, Integrin subunit alpha M (*Itgam*) to label microglia, *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl10*, *II17*, *II1β*, & *Tnfα*) was added to each slide and the slides were

left to incubate for two hours at 40°C. Slides were washed in 1X Wash Buffer (ACDbio) twice, then amplification reagents 1-4 were added sequentially with washes between each reagent incubation using 1X Wash Buffer. The slides were cover slipped using Prolong Gold with DAPI. Tissue was imaged using a Zeiss Axio Imager microscope with a 20X objective lens (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Cells positive for fluorescent expression of cytokines were manually counted and colocalization with ITGAM and GFAP was assessed manually. Positive cells were determined by the presence of 3 or more puncta. Total cell counts of *Itgam*+ and *Gfap*+ cells were counted using QuPath (v0.4.4) (Bankhead et al., 2017).

No differences in protocol occurred when performing RNAscope FISH on FCG or WT tissue.

#### 2.2.4. Statistics

#### Behaviour.

Statistical analyses of all behavioural assays were performed on GraphPad Prism (9.5.1). Survival curves were compared using Mantel-Cox log-rank test. Comparisons of 8 independent groups were performed using 3-way ANOVA. Comparisons of 4 independent groups over time were performed using repeated measures 2-way ANOVA. Post-hoc multiple comparisons tests were run using the Holm-Šídák test. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  the standard error of the mean (SEM), and significance thresholds were set at p < 0.05.

#### Post-mortem:

Pairwise comparisons of cytokine protein concentrations used to generate volcano plots were performed using the rstatix package on R (4.2.2) by Julia Nickols. Differential cytokine expression between CFA controls and EAE animals was assessed using the Mann-Whitney U test with FDR correction for multiple comparisons. Significance thresholds were set at q < 0.05.

RNAscope FISH analyses comparing disease and strain differences were performed using GraphPad Prism (9.5.1). Comparisons of 4 independent groups were performed using 2-way ANOVAs, with follow-up Holm-Šídák post-hoc tests. Data are represented as means  $\pm$  the SEM, and significance thresholds were set at p < 0.05.

2.3. Results

#### 2.3.1. FCG mice demonstrate typical presymptomatic progression of EAE

As all our behavioural testing occurs at disease onset, we asked if there was a significant difference in our FCG mice in terms of time to disease onset. Gonadal female (XXF and XYF) mice onset significantly earlier than gonadal males (XYM and XXM), without a significant effect of chromosome complement (Fig. 1B; Fig. S1; effect of gonad: F(1,69) = 5.055, *p* = 0.0278; effect of chromosome: F(1, 69) = 0.0009132, *p* = 0.9760; interaction effect of gonad and chromosome: F(1,69) = 0.1918, *p* = 0.6628). Prior to disease onset, we observed a marked decrease in weight of EAE animals that was greater in gonadal females than males, potentially due to lower rates of disease onset in gonadal males (Fig. 1C,E; effect of disease: F(1,65) = 285.7, p < 0.0001; effect of genotype: F(3,65) = 49.74, p < 0.0001; interaction effect between genotype and disease: F(3,65) = 2.859, *p* = **0.0436**) that was not observed in CFA animals (Fig. 1C,D; effect of disease: F(1,53) = 0.6683, p = 0.4173; effect of genotype: F(3,53) = 27.64, p < 0.0001; interaction effect between genotype and disease: F(3,53) = 0.4153, p = 0.7427). EAE onset is characterized by mechanical allodynia but not thermal hyperalgesia (Olechowski et al., 2009). We therefore evaluated the mechanical thresholds of EAE mice at disease onset in comparison to the CFA controls and found that EAE mice had significantly lower nociceptive thresholds than CFA mice at EAE onset (Fig. 1F; effect of disease: F(1,118) = 24.85, p < 0.0001). We also saw a significant interaction effect between EAE and gonads but not of chromosome (interaction effect between disease and gonads: F(1,118)=4.311, **p** = 0.0400; interaction effect of disease and sex chromosome: F(1,118) = 0.3620, **p** = 0.5486). Post-hoc analyses revealed that there was a significant difference between CFA and EAE nociceptive thresholds in XXM (p = 0.0003), XYF (p = 0.0320), and XYM (p = 0.0089) groups, but not the XXF group (p = 0.6038), indicating there may be genotype effects on nociceptive thresholds. Expanding on this, when comparing FCG gonadal females and gonadal males in CFA and EAE, there was not a significant difference between EAE gonadal females and males (p = 0.4548), but the CFA groups are trending towards significance (p = 0.0640) (Fig. S2A, effect of interaction: F(1,122) = 4.430, p = 0.0374). However, when FCG XX and XY mice are compared, there is no effect of chromosome complement (Fig. **S2B**, effect of disease: F(1,122) = 26.08, *p* < 0.0001; effect of chromosomes: F(1,122) = 0.5812, *p* = 0.4473; interaction effect of disease: F(1,122) = 0.1281, p = 0.7211). This is not a result of baseline differences in mechanical nociception (Fig. S3). Evaluating thermal nociceptive thresholds, we found no

effect of disease on tail withdrawal thresholds when tested across days 8, 9, or 13 (**Fig. 1G**; effect of disease: F(1,109) = 0.3050, *p* = 0.5819), indicating that the FCG mice may not experience thermal hyperalgesia in EAE during the presymptomatic period. However, when displayed as a function of time to onset, we do see evidence to support a reduction in thermal thresholds 1 day prior to disease onset, albeit in a very small sample size (**Fig. S4**).



**Fig. 1: FCG mice demonstrate typical presymptomatic progression of EAE. (A)** Schematic depiction of the FCG mouse model. **(B)** Survival curve showing that animals with ovaries reach disease onset, characterized by tail paralysis, sooner than animals with testes, regardless of chromosome complement. **(C)** Weights of CFA and EAE FCG mice leading up to disease onset. **(D)** EAE mice experience significant weight loss at disease onset (right), whereas CFA animals do not (left). **(E)** FCG EAE mice display mechanical allodynia at disease onset, tested by von Frey. XXF mice do not display significant differences compared to controls, whereas the 3 other genotypes have significantly lower nociceptive thresholds in EAE than CFA controls. **(F)** Tail flick thermal thresholds are not changed in EAE compared to CFA in any genotype during the presymptomatic period, tested at days 8, 9, or 13. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

# 2.3.2. The inflammatory response between FCG and WT C57BI/6J mice display minimal

#### differences

To evaluate whether the inflammatory response within the amygdala in EAE differed between FCG and WT mice, we assessed the cytokine response in EAE via a Luminex assay in both mouse strains (**Table 1**; **Fig. S5**). We were able to compare 25 cytokines between the two strains and found that 8 cytokines were differentially dysregulated between the two models (CCL11, CCL17, CCL21, CX3CL1, CXCL2, IL-10, IL-13, and VEGF). CCL11 was upregulated in the FCG EAE mice but not in the WT mice. Two cytokines (CCL17 and CCL21) were upregulated in the WT mice but not in the FCG animals. The largest group of differentially regulated cytokines were cytokines that were downregulated in the FCG EAE mice but not dysregulated in the WT animals (CX3CL1, CXCL2, IL-10, IL-13, and VEGF).

	Regulation in EAE vs. CFA	
Cytokine	Four Core Genotype	WT C56BI/6J
CCL11	Upregulated	No effect
CCL12	Upregulated	Upregulated
CCL17	No effect	Upregulated
CCL21	No effect	Upregulated
CCL22	Upregulated	Upregulated
CX3CL1	Downregulated	No effect
CXCL2	Downregulated	No effect
CXCL9	Upregulated	Upregulated
CXCL10	Upregulated	Upregulated
IL-10	Downregulated	No effect
IL-13	Downregulated	No effect
VEGF	Downregulated	No effect

#### Bolded cytokines are different between strains.

*Cytokines omitted due to concentrations being too low for a comparison*: CCL2, CCL4, CCL19, CXCL1, CXCL5, EPO, G-CSF, GM-CSF, IL-3, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-11, IL-12p40, IL-15, IL-20, LIF, LIX, TIMP-1, TNFα.

*Cytokines omitted because EAE did not have an effect in either group*: CCL3, CCL5, CCL20, CSF-1, IFNβ-1, IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-9, IL-12p70, IL-16, IL-17. Sexes are pooled.

To further test whether the inflammatory response to EAE was different between FCG and WT

mice in the CNS, we compared 5 cytokines of interest (*Cxcl1*, *Cxcl10*, *II1β*, *II17*, & *Tnfα*) using RNAscope

within 4 different regions (BLA, CeA, IC, and S1). *Cxcl1, Cxcl10,* and *ll17* were selected for further exploration based on the results of the cytokine Luminex, while *ll1* $\beta$  and *Tnf* $\alpha$  were selected based on their association with microglial-driven inflammation. Of the 20 analyses, 3 had a significant effect of strain (*Cxcl1, Cxcl10* in the IC; *ll1* $\beta$  in the S1) and 1 had a significant interaction effect of disease and strain (*ll1* $\beta$  in the BLA) (**Table 2**; **Fig. S7**). Within the IC, WT C57Bl/6J animals expressed more *Cxcl1*+ and *Cxcl10*+ cells. In the S1, FCG animals express more *ll1* $\beta$ + cells than WT C57Bl/6J animals. Within the BLA, *ll1* $\beta$ + cells were significantly upregulated in WT EAE mice, but not in the FCG. *ll17*+ cells were not found in any region and therefore are not shown. Due to small sample size, sex was not evaluated.

# Table 2: Differences in the effect of EAE on cytokine mRNA within various regions of the brain of FCG and WT C57BI/6J mice.

Cytokine	Region	Effect
ΙΙ1β	BLA	Interaction (p = 0.0472)
Cxcl1	IC	Strain (p = 0.0169)
Cxcl10	IC	Strain (p = 0.0306)
Π1β	S1	Strain (p =0.0079)

All other analyses did not show a significant effect of strain or an interaction of disease and strain. Sexes are pooled. 2.4. Discussion

#### 2.4.1. Four Core Genotype mice in a model of EAE

At the conclusion of this project, only a handful of papers have been published using FCG mice in EAE and none have focused on the early stages of the disease. As such we initially set out to establish that the FCG mice followed the traditional pattern of EAE onset as well as the expected nociceptive responses. While it has been previously reported that female SLJ mice induced with EAE have an earlier day of disease onset post-immunization compared to males (Papenfuss et al., 2004; Voskuhl et al., 1996), the same has not been observed in C57Bl/6J mice induced with EAE using pertussis (Catuneanu et al., 2019; Huntemann et al., 2022; Mifflin et al., 2019; Wiedrick et al., 2021). As FCG mice are backcrossed on the C57Bl/6J line and our model of EAE induction utilized the administration of pertussis, our finding that gonadal females had significantly earlier disease onset than gonadal males, regardless of sex chromosome complement, was unexpected. This may be due to residual effects of the initial breed of the *Sry* gene, which originated from the 129-mouse line, although this type of sex difference has not been assessed in this mouse line and this is unlikely to have overt effects on mouse behaviour to this degree. Alternatively, in light of our cytokine data, it is possible that the FCG gonadal females mount a greater immune response to EAE, facilitating more rapid corticospinal degradation and thereby decreasing the time to disease onset.

Our finding pertaining to a lack of influence of sex chromosomes on disease onset is consistent with the only other study that has analyzed EAE disease onset in C57BI/6J FCG mice, although the design of that study intentionally prevented the assessment of sex hormones (Smith-Bouvier et al., 2008). Estrogens have, however, been shown to be largely neuroprotective in rodent models of EAE, in line with the clinical observation that MS severity in women is attenuated by pregnancy (Voskuhl & Palaszynksi, 2001). Testosterone levels between XXM and XYM mice are similar and consistent with WT males, but sex hormones may vary between the XXF and XYF genotypes, as evidenced by the early loss of estrous cycle in XYF mice compared to XXF mice (Arnold & Chen, 2009; Dhakal et al., 2023). In a study evaluating different characteristics of FCG mice, Corre et al., (2016) reported similar testosterone and estrogen levels between the XX and XY genotypes in gonadal males and females, respectively, but they also find age-dependent differences in luteinizing hormone and follicular stimulating hormone. Other pituitary hormones have not been compared over longer time points in the FCG mice, but it is possible

that there are also differences in these that could influence behaviour. As the mice used in our experiments had a significantly greater age range and erred towards being older, it is possible that the circulating hormone levels of our FCG mice varied by a significant amount, influencing the observed EAE phenotype. Further work should be done to characterize the hormones of FCG mice and their influence on EAE behaviours.

We found an influence of genotype on the weight loss at EAE onset, although this is likely mediated by the fact that some of the male animals did not onset prior to day 20, and therefore did not lose weight by the time of euthanasia. However, weight loss was still seen across all genotypes. This is largely in line with previous reports of EAE-induced weight loss by studies such as Huntemann et al. (2022), wherein they find no sex difference in weight loss due to EAE. This indicates that EAE FCG mice lose weight at disease onset in a similar fashion to that of a WT C57BI/6J mice.

This is the first study assessing nociceptive responses in EAE of FCG animals during the presymptomatic stage of the disease. We found that EAE animals generally displayed significantly reduced nociceptive thresholds at onset, as has been shown in previous studies using WT C57BI/6J mice (Catuneanu et al., 2019). Interestingly, we found that there was also a significant interaction effect between gonad and disease. This appears due to reduced nociceptive thresholds in the CFA group of gonadal females. This is a surprising finding considering that in previous EAE studies, CFA females do not display a significant reduction in nociceptive thresholds (Ding et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2017). It is possible that the gonadal females in FCG mice differ from WT females in their response to CFA, presumably with a heightened immune response, which may explain the decreased nociceptive thresholds in the XXF mice following CFA administration. As a heightened general immune response of the gonadal females in EAE could potentially explain both a sooner time to disease onset as well as greater reductions in mechanical sensitivity in our CFA controls, more work should be done to investigate the peripheral and central immune response of FCG mice to ensure consistency with previous works in WT C57BI/6J mice.

Although some studies have shown thermal sensitivity in EAE (Aicher et al., 2004; Mirabelli et al., 2019), only Dworsky-Fried et al. (2022) has demonstrated its occurrence during the presymptomatic stage of the disease. Alternatively, Olechowski et al. (2009) were unable to find a change in thermal
thresholds at any point. Consistent with the latter, we found that the FCG mice did not develop thermal hyperalgesia at the time of testing during the presymptomatic stage of the disease. This may be due to the time of testing: Aicher et al. (2004) showed that thermal tail withdrawal latencies vary over the time course of the disease, although they also report marked hypoalgesia prior to onset of motor symptoms. As we tested the FCG mice at days 8, 9, and 13 post-induction, it is possible that the range of disease courses across all mice prevented a significant effect from being shown. Consistent with this, when revisiting our tail withdrawal data, we observed that EAE animals that onset the day following testing did experience a drop in thermal thresholds, although it is worth noting that our sample size is very small, and we were unable to assess effects of genotype (**Fig. S4**). This, alongside our other behavioural testing both prior to and at disease onset, suggest that the FCG mice largely follow the expected behavioural disease course of WT C57BI/6J males and females.

# 2.4.2 The FCG inflammatory response to EAE within the brain is comparable to that of C57BI/6J mice

The FCG mouse model has been used in dozens of studies since the model's inception, including in several inflammatory models. However, recent evidence has demonstrated that the FCG mouse line has a 3.2 MB X-Y chromosome translocation not observed in WT C57Bl/6J mice containing several genes that influence the immune system (Panten et al., 2023). We therefore evaluated EAE-induced inflammatory proteins in the amygdala in both FCG and WT mice (**Table 1**; **Fig. S5**). Further, we evaluated 5 cytokines via RNAscope within the basolateral amygdala (BLA), CeA, IC, and somatosensory cortex (S1) (**Table 2**; **Fig. S7**).

In our Luminex assay, we compared 25 cytokines and found that 8 cytokines were differentially dysregulated between FCG and WT mice in EAE. Six cytokines were found to be dysregulated in the FCG mice, but not in the WT animals. This is likely exaggerated by a lower sample size in the WT tissue (n = 4-8 for CFA, n = 6-19 for EAE) than FCG (n = 20-36 for CFA, n = 24-41 for EAE) which would result in fewer cytokines being determined as significant if the effect size is small. Additionally, we obtained lower total protein concentrations from WT as compared to FCG mice, further limiting our ability to detect smaller differences between groups. For example, in the FCG Luminex, IL-10 was found to be

downregulated in the FCG amygdala but not in the WT tissue. However, in a previous study by Acharjee et al. (2018) utilizing the same Luminex assay performed in our study, the authors found that C57BI/6J female EAE mice had a significant reduction of IL-10 compared to CFA controls in the amygdala, suggesting that our failure to find downregulation of IL-10 in the amygdala of WT females in EAE may be due to our inability to detect the difference. Additionally, that study was performed exclusively in female WT animals whereas our assay was performed using only 2 female and 6 male CFA animals, so we may be masking some inflammatory effects due to a male-dominant control group. Lastly, only 4 WT EAE mice (3 males and 1 female) reached disease onset prior to euthanasia, which could also be exacerbating the differences between strains as the majority of FCG mice did reach disease onset. Of the 8 cytokines that we found to be different between our strains in the Luminex assay, 5 could potentially be explained by these reasons (CCL11, CXCL2, IL-10, IL-13, and VEGF) due to significance being found in the FCG mice, but not the WT animals. However, the 3 remaining cytokines found to be differentially dysregulated – CCL17, CCL21, and CX3CL1 – cannot be explained by these reasons.

CCL17 conventionally binds to CCR4 to act as a powerful chemokine for Th2 cells and monocytes, as well as dendritic cells, but not granulocytes, suggesting that it serves important roles in the pathogenesis of EAE (Ness et al., 2006). Unsurprisingly then, we found CCL17 was upregulated in our WT amygdala, in line with a previous study that found similar results in the spinal cord (Ruland et al., 2017). In contrast to that, our FCG mice displayed no dysregulation in CCL17. Within the CNS, CCL17 is produced by microglia (Scheu et al., 2017), although a 2018 study reported a small population of CA1 neurons that expressed CCL17 as well (Fülle et al.). Interestingly, CCL17 is found within the same gene cluster as CX3CL1 on the murine chromosome 8, another cytokine with contrasting dysregulation between strains (Ness et al., 2006).

Within the CNS, CX3CL1 is a prominent neuron-microglial communicator, wherein CX3CL1 is released by neurons and binds to CX3CR1 on microglia to induce functional changes (Pawelec et al., 2020). In patients with relapsing-remitting MS, CX3CL1 has been shown to be increased in the CSF compared to healthy controls (Blauth et al., 2015). In the CNS of C57BI/6J mice, CX3CL1 is upregulated in the brain (Mills et al., 2012), spinal cord, and the DRG at EAE onset (Zhu et al., 2013). Our FCG results directly contradict this, finding that seemingly regardless of genotype, there is downregulation of CX3CL1

expression in the amygdala of our FCG EAE animals. This effect also seems to be consistent across different brain regions as our S1 punches saw similar reductions (**Fig. S6A**). However, CX3CL1 was also not dysregulated in the amygdala of our WT EAE animals, which is also in contrast to previous studies, although, as mentioned previously, this may be an effect of smaller sample sizes or lack of EAE disease onset in most of our WT animals. Still, as we found our FCG mice had an unprecedented downregulation of CX3CL1, neuronal-microglial communicators that are dysregulated in EAE may be different in the FCG mice compared to C57BI/6J mice. Given the genetic link of CCL17 with CX3CL1 and the unexpected change in disease for both cytokines, it is possible that the differences in concentrations observed in these cytokines are due to alterations in gene transcription or translation, warranting further investigation.

In line with our assay in WT animals, CCL21 has been shown to be upregulated in the CNS in EAE (Bielecki et al., 2015; Columba-Cabezas et al., 2003). CCL21 canonically binds to CCR7 to facilitate migration of leukocytes such as dendritic cells, T cells, and B cells in homeostatic or pathological conditions (Hughes et al., 2018; López-Cotarelo et al., 2017). However, CCL21 can also be upregulated in neurons following peripheral nerve injury (Biber et al., 2011) and has also been found to be upregulated in the spinal cord of EAE onset animals (Schmitz et al., 2013). While CCR7 is the primary target for CCL21 in the periphery, CCL21 also binds to CXCR3 on microglia, representing another means for neuronal-microglial communication in the CNS (Biber et al., 2011; Rappert et al., 2002). However, we found that in our FCG mice, in opposition to our own and other's findings in WT C57BI/6J animals, that CCL21 was not upregulated in the amygdala of EAE mice. This, in addition to our findings with CCL17 and CX3CL1, adds further interest to potentially strain-dependent dysregulation of neuronal-immune communication within the amygdala. Panten et al. (2023) investigated the effect of the previously unknown X-Y translocation in peripheral immune cells and hepatocytes but did not investigate central nervous immune cells such as microglia, nor did they look at neurons. It is possible that the genetic alterations in the FCG mice, particularly the reported translocation of the toll-like receptor (TLR) genes, TIr7 and TIr8, has altered the immune response of neurons to pathological conditions. As Friedman et al. (2019) displayed sex-dependent changes in the expression of *TIr7* and *TIr8* in the DRG of EAE mice, it is possible that the alterations to these genes in FCG animals has significant implications to the immune response within the CNS neurons as well. Our findings demonstrate that, while in regard to total cytokine

release, the amygdalar inflammatory response is largely conserved between FCG and WT mice, further work is required to fully elucidate the immune differences between the strains. This is especially apparent in terms of neuronal cytokine release, where little is currently known.

The results of the RNAscope analyses were also largely consistent across the two models in pain-relevant regions, with only 4 of 20 analyses showing any effect of strain. The greatest differences were found in the IC, where both *Cxcl1* and *Cxcl10* were found to have greater expression in WT C57BI/6J mice than FCG mice, suggesting that WT mice may have a greater chemotactic profile in white matter tracts than FCG mice in EAE. Given the demyelinating nature of EAE within the spinal cord, reduced chemoattraction of immune cells to white matter could have implications for the progression of the disease and axonal degradation, although we did not observe an unexpected time to disease onset in our FCG mice. Further work should be done to characterize the chemotactic profile within regions of concentrated white matter in FCG mice.

Within pain-relevant regions, the only significant difference between strains was found in *II1* $\beta$ + cell expression. In the BLA, there was a significant upregulation of *II1* $\beta$ + cells in EAE in WT animals but not FCG mice. As IL1 $\beta$  protein was not found to be upregulated in either of our Luminex experiments, nor was it upregulated in another study looking at EAE females, it is possible that the upregulation in the mRNA of IL1 $\beta$  does not translate to the protein level (Acharjee et al., 2018). In the S1, we found significantly more *II1* $\beta$ + cells in our FCG mice than our WT animals, suggesting that the pro-inflammatory protein may be expressed at higher levels in the S1 of FCG mice than WT animals. As IL1 $\beta$  in the S1 can alter sensory transmission, this may influence pain signalling in FCG animals (Won et al., 1995). However, FCG animals display nociceptive thresholds that are typical of WT mice, so higher levels of IL1 $\beta$  likely plays a negligible role in the overt behaviours of the animals.

Taken together, we find few differences between FCG mice and WT mice in EAE. FCG mice display some sex differences during EAE onset uncharacteristic of typical C57BI/6J mice that may be explained by an underlying exaggerated immune response in gonadal females. Similarly, we find FCG mice display typical EAE nociceptive thresholds, although we also find that the CFA control gonadal females have lower nociceptive thresholds following CFA and pertussis administration than expected that may, again, be explained by an exaggerated immune response in the gonadal females. Directly

comparing the immune response within the amygdala, we find very few unexplainable differences between the FCG and WT animals, although we do find 3 cytokines that may implicate alterations in the immune response of neurons to EAE which warrants further investigation. Lastly, our RNAscope data suggested that few differences exist in the immune response at the transcriptional level, although differing levels of chemotactic factors present in the white matter tracts of FCG animals may have ramifications for the overall disease presentation. Continued work should be done to ensure that findings in FCG mice are consistent with WT mice. However, as FCG mice largely follow the expected disease course of EAE, display typical nociceptive behaviour, and share largely overlapping immune responses to EAE with WT mice, we posit that our findings in the FCG mice are consistent with that of WT mice and consider it a valid model of EAE.

#### **Connecting text: Chapter 2 and Chapter 3**

Having determined that the behavioural phenotype of EAE in FCG mice is largely in line with WT C57BI/6J mice and that the immune response to EAE within a collection of regions, as determined at a transcriptional and translational level, is consistent with the expected response of WT animals, we sought to perform an in-depth analysis of the sex differences in the CeA immune response to EAE using this model. Using the FCG mice, we measured protein concentrations of various cytokines in the amygdala in EAE in each independent genotype and find that the greatest dysregulation in cytokine expression was in XXF mice, and the least was in XYM mice. The other two genotypes (XXM & XYF) had an intermediate degree of dysregulation, suggesting that this sex difference is being mediated by both sex chromosomes and sex hormones.

Building on this work, we asked what immune cells may be mediating these sex effects. We investigate microglia, the CNS resident immune cells, in WT males and females to determine the contribution of these cells to the inflammatory environment. We found few sex differences in microglial characteristics including morphology and density. Unexpectedly, we provide evidence to suggest that sexually differential cytokines are preferentially expressed in astrocytes in EAE rather than microglia. Furthermore, the total number of astrocytes are upregulated in the CeA of females and not males in EAE, indicating that proliferative astrogliosis may underlie the sex-specific immune response in this region. This work suggests that not only does the degree to which EAE produces an inflammatory state within the CeA differ based on biological sex, but that different cell populations may mediate this response in each sex.

Chapter 3: Sex differences in the Immune Response of the CeA in EAE

#### 3.1. Introduction

MS is an autoimmune disease generally characterized by CNS axon demyelination, leading to a progressive loss of function until eventual death. Over the course of the disease, more than 50% of patients will suffer from chronic pain, an affliction that represents a significant source of reduced quality of life in those that are already suffering (Österberg et al., 2005). Currently, the available therapeutics fail to adequately remedy this problem, so chronic pain remains a major concern in this population (Forbes et al., 2006; Hadjimichael et al., 2007).

As in many autoimmune diseases, MS is more common in women than it is in men (Whitacre C., 2001). On the other hand, pain appears to be evenly distributed between men and women suffering from MS (Hirsh et al., 2009). However, this lack of sex difference in pain phenotypes may belie differences in the underlying mechanisms that facilitate pain in each sex. Within the spinal cord, different immune cells have been shown to facilitate neuropathic pain in males and females, relying predominately on microglia and infiltrating immune cells, respectively (Sorge et al., 2015). Since this discovery, more studies have revealed more neuroimmune sex differences in both the DRG and the spinal cord in neuropathic pain (Berta et al., 2016; Lopes et al., 2017; Luo et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2021). Prior to presentation of motor deficits, the animal model of MS, EAE, mimics the neuropathic pain phenotype of the clinical population (Olechowski et al., 2009). Within the DRG (Friedman et al., 2019; Maguire et al., 2022) and the spinal cord (Catuneanu et al., 2019; Wiedrick et al., 2021), neuroimmune sex differences have been found previously in EAE, demonstrating dissociable mechanisms of pain facilitation within these pain relevant regions.

While the spinal cord has been extensively studied in EAE, the brain has seldom been considered for its role in chronic pain in this disease. The collection of brain regions that become active following the sensation of pain includes several disparate brain regions involved in both the sensory and emotional aspects of pain (Garcia-Larrea & Peyron, 2013). Given the known roles of the amygdala in the recognition and processing of unpleasant information, it is perhaps unsurprising that it is a member of this network. Within the clinical population, lesions within the amygdala have been associated with deficits in fear and anger recognition, but pain has yet to be studied in association with amygdalar lesions (Pitteri et al., 2019). Although several subdivisions of the amygdala are involved in the processing of painful

information, the CeA has garnered significant attention in the past decade for its ability to modulate pain. The CeA receives both processed and unprocessed pain information that is then sent to a variety of regions, including the brainstem, hypothalamus, and basal forebrain, that then modulate behavioural responses to this noxious information (Neugebauer et al., 2015; Neugebauer et al., 2020). Two neuronal cell populations have recently been showcased as having two opposing functions on pain, wherein activation of protein kinase C  $\delta$  positive neurons is pronociceptive and the activation of somatostatin neurons is antinociceptive (Wilson et al., 2019). However, the authors, as well as others, have shown that in chronic pain, these cell populations become dysregulated, potentially contributing to the chronification of pain (Adke et al., 2021; Dworsky-Fried et al., 2022; Lin et al., 2022). How this dysregulation occurs is currently unknown, although current evidence supports the involvement of the immune system.

Microglial activation within the CeA has previously been shown to be associated with increased visceral pain in rats (Yuan et al., 2020; Yuan et al., 2022). In a previous study from our lab, we demonstrated that EAE induced similar microglial morphological alterations at disease onset, the time of peak nociceptive hypersensitivity (Dworsky-Fried et al., 2022). This EAE-induced microglial activation within the CeA was associated with a reduction in the efficacy of morphine in female mice, but not in males. Investigating this further, Dworsky-Fried et al. (2022) directly stimulated CeA microglia via microinjection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and found the same sex effect, suggesting that microglia within this region are acting differently in males and females. At EAE onset, immune dysregulation within the DRG has been shown to be significantly greater in females at EAE disease onset with very little change in males, so we hypothesized that the female immune response within the CeA would be significantly greater than males and that this sex difference in immune dysregulation would primarily come from microglia (Friedman et al., 2019).

Using the FCG model, we show the greatest degree of cytokine dysregulation within the amygdala of XXF EAE mice and the least dysregulation in the amygdala of XYM mice. The XYF and XXM genotypes demonstrate moderate amounts of dysregulation in comparison, suggesting a role of both sex hormones and sex chromosome genes in this effect. To investigate the role of microglia, we first assessed microglial morphology and density within the CeA, finding little difference in response between sexes. We next assessed the colocalization of CeA microglia with several cytokines including two of the

most highly differentially regulated cytokines from our protein assay, CXCL1, and CXCL10. We find minimal colocalization of these cytokines with microglia, finding instead that they colocalized to a greater extent with astrocytes. Furthermore, the number of *Gfap*+ cells in the CeA was increased only in females, indicating that astrogliosis may underlie the sex-specific immune response in this region.

3.2. Materials & Methods

#### 3.2.1. Animals

#### Four Core Genotype:

Male C57BI/6J mice with the *Sry* gene (129-derived), responsible for testes development, translocated from the Y chromosome to chromosome 3 (provided by Dr. Arthur Arnold, UCLA) were bred with WT C57BI/6J females to generate four-core genotype (FCG) mice. This permits the production of four groups of mice: gonadal females and gonadal males with either XX or XY sex chromosomes, allowing the dissociation of hormonal vs chromosomal sex effects. Mice were backcrossed onto a C57BI/6J background for a minimum of eighteen generations. FCG mice ranged between 15-50 weeks in age.

#### Cx3cr1<sup>CreER</sup>;Ai9:

B6.129P2(Cg)-Cx3cr1<tm2.1(cre/ERT2)Litt> mice (Cx3cr1<sup>CreER</sup>; Jackson Laboratory) express Cre-ERT2 under the *Cx3cr1* promoter, allowing for tamoxifen-induced Cre expression within macrophages. These mice were backcrossed with C57BI/6J for at least 12 generations. Cx3cr1<sup>CreER</sup> mice were bred with Ai9 mice (129S6/SvEvTac x C57BI/6NCrl origin, backcrossed with C57BI/6J for at least one generation) to generate Cx3cr1<sup>CreER</sup>;Ai9 mice that express TdTomato in Cx3cr1+ cells following tamoxifen administration. Male and female Cx3cr1<sup>CreER</sup>;Ai9 mice were injected with tamoxifen at postnatal day 13 for two days to induce lasting Cre expression specific to resident tissue macrophages in the CNS (microglia). Control animals received a hind limb incision at 12 weeks of age, one week prior to euthanasia.

### EAE Induction:

To induce EAE, reagents provided by Hooke Laboratories (Cat. #: EK-2110) were used. Mice were subcutaneously administered myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein amino acids 35-55 (MOG<sub>35-55</sub>; 50  $\mu$ g/animal) emulsified in an inflammatory agent, Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA; 50  $\mu$ L). Mice were given an intraperitoneal injection of pertussis toxin (100 ng) on the day of immunization and again 24 hours later. Control mice received subcutaneous injections of CFA and the subsequent intraperitoneal pertussis injections at the same times as the EAE mice.

### Animal Ethics:

All animal procedures were conducted in compliance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and Policies, with approval from the University of Health Sciences Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Alberta. Mice were housed in standard wire-top cages (1-5 per cage) in a temperature- and humidity-controlled environment with water and food was available *ad libitum*. Mice were kept on a 12-hour light/dark cycle and all experiments were performed during the light cycle.

#### 3.2.2. Post-Mortem

#### Luminex Multiplex Immunoassay:

Once a FCG EAE mouse reached disease onset, the mouse and a genotype-matched CFA control were euthanized using pentobarbital, and brains were immediately removed following saline (0.9% NaCl) flush. Brains were placed in a brain block and 2 mm punches corresponding to the amygdala and primary somatosensory cortex were collected and flash frozen on dry ice then placed in a -80°C freezer for storage. Punches were homogenized in tissue extraction reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Burlington, ON, Canada) and the concentration of each sample was standardized to 2 mg/ml. Samples were sent to Eve Technologies (Calgary, AB, Canada) where a Luminex multiplex immunoassay was performed to observe the concentration of 45 different cytokines within each sample.

## RNAscope FISH:

Animals were euthanized with pentobarbital and intracardially perfused with ice cold saline (0.9% NaCl). Brains were immediately flash frozen on dry ice into O.C.T. cryomolds. Brains were cut into 12 µm sections onto slides that were placed in a -80°C freezer. Slides were immersed in 4% PFA at 4°C for 15 minutes followed by 4 subsequent dehydrations in ethanol at room temperature for 5 minutes each (50%, 70%, 100%, 100%). Slides were allowed to air-dry for 5 minutes at room temperature and a hydrophobic barrier was drawn around the tissue using an Immedge® Hydrophobic Barrier PAP Pen. RNAscope Protease III (ACDbio) was added to each slide and the tissue was allowed to incubate for 30 minutes at room temperature. Slides were then washed in 1X phosphate-buffered saline twice. One hundred µL of an RNAscope probe (ACDbio) cocktail for targeted mRNA (*Gfap* to label astrocytes, *Itgam* to label

microglia, *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl10*, *II17*, *II1β*, & *Tnfα*) was added to each slide and the slides were left to incubate for two hours at 40°C. Slides were washed in 1X Wash Buffer (ACDbio) twice, then amplification reagents 1-4 were added sequentially with washes between each reagent incubation using 1X Wash Buffer. The slides were cover slipped using Prolong Gold with DAPI. Tissue was imaged using a Zeiss Axio Imager microscope with a 20X objective lens (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Cells positive for fluorescent expression of cytokines were manually counted and colocalization with ITGAM and GFAP was assessed manually. Positive cells were determined by the presence of 3 or more puncta. Total cell counts of *Itgam*+ and *Gfap*+ cells were counted using QuPath (v0.4.4) (Bankhead et al., 2017).

#### Microglial Morphology:

Female (N=13) and male (N=11) naïve and EAE C57BI/6J Cx3cr1<sup>CreER</sup>;Ai9 mice aged 10-12 weeks at the beginning of experimentation were euthanized and transcardially perfused with ice-cold 4% PFA. Brains were collected and post-fixed in 4% PFA for 48 hours then cryoprotected in 30% sucrose. Brains were then placed into O.C.T. cryomolds and sliced at 20 µm. Microglia within the CeA were imaged at 40X using Z stacks (Zeiss LSM710 Confocal microscope) and Bitplane Imaris (9.9.0) was used to generate 3D reconstructions of microglial morphology. Soma (area, sphericity, volume) and process (branch points, maximum length, total length) characteristics were analyzed. Tissue processing and analyses performed by Ethan Chen.

#### Immunohistochemistry (IHC):

Male and female C57BI/6J mice aged 10-12 weeks at the beginning of EAE induction in CFA control or EAE groups were deeply anesthetized at EAE disease onset and intracardially perfused and post-fixed with ice-cold 4% PFA. Following cryoprotection in 30% sucrose, brains were frozen into O.C.T. cryomolds. Brains were cut into 20 µm sections onto slides that were placed in a -80°C freezer. Tissue was then blocked (NDS/NGS) and primary antibodies were left on the tissue to incubate overnight at room temperature. Primary antibodies and concentrations were as follows: rat anti-cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4; 1:200; Bio-Rad Laboratories, ON, Canada), rat anti-cluster of differentiation 45 (CD45; 1:100; BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA, USA), and rabbit anti-ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule (IBA-1; 1:500; Wako, Richmond, VA, USA). On the second day, secondary antibodies were added: donkey anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was

used for IBA-1 and donkey anti-rat Alexa Fluor 647 (1:200; Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA) was used for immunolabelling of CD4 and CD45. Tissue was then mounted using Prolong Gold antifade with DAPI and cover slipped. Images were taken using a Zeiss Axio Imager microscope with a 20X objective lens (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

### 3.2.3. Statistics

#### Normality and Variance:

Data were assessed for normality prior to statistical analyses in two ways. Qualitative analysis of normality using QQ plot was the primary means of determining normality. If the normality of the data was ambiguous based on the QQ plot, Shapiro-Wilk test for normality of the residuals was used to decide normality. Non-parametric data was analyzed using Mann-Whitney test to compare ranks.

Parametric data was analyzed for equal variance using qualitative assessment of the homoscedasticity plot and quantitative assessment via F test. Parametric data with significantly different variances were analyzed using unpaired t test with Welch's correction.

#### Post-mortem:

Statistical analyses of all post-mortem analyses except for comparisons of Luminex cytokine analyses generating volcano plots were performed on GraphPad Prism (9.5.1). Comparisons of 4 independent groups were performed using 2-way ANOVAs and comparisons of 2 independent groups were performed using independent sample t-tests. Multiple comparisons tests were run using the Holm-Šídák test. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  the SEM, and significance thresholds were set at p < 0.05.

Luminex multiplex cytokine analyses generating volcano plots were performed using the rstatix package on R (4.2.2) by Julia Nickols. Comparisons of differential cytokine expression in CFA controls and EAE animals in the Luminex multiplex immunoassay were performed using the Mann-Whitney U test with FDR correction for multiple comparisons. Significance thresholds were set at q < 0.05.

3.3. Results

# 3.3.1. Female gonadal or chromosome complement is associated with greater dysregulation of inflammation within the amygdala

To begin characterizing the inflammatory milieu within the amygdala, we performed a Luminex on tissue punches from the subcortical region around the CeA in FCG mice at EAE disease onset. Comparing all EAE and CFA animals, we found that there was significant dysregulation of cytokines in the amygdalar punches. Five cytokines were downregulated (CX3CL1, CXCL2, IL10, IL13, and VEGF) and 9 cytokines were found to be upregulated (CCL11, CCL12, CCL19, CCL22, CXCL1, CXCL9, CXCL10, G-CSF, and TIMP-1; **Fig. 2B**). When comparing the 4 genotypes, we saw the greatest dysregulation of cytokines in the XXF genotype, wherein 8 cytokines were dysregulated compared to XXF CFA controls (CCL11, CCL12, CCL19, CCL22, CXCL1, CXCL10, EPO, and VEGF; **Fig. 2C**). The XYM genotype showed the least amount of dysregulation, with only CCL11 being significantly upregulated (**Fig. 2F**). Within the XXM and XYF genotypes, 6 (CCL2, CCL11, CCL12, CX3CL1, CXCL10, **Fig. 2D**) and 4 (CCL12, CX3CL1, CXCL10, and VEGF; **Fig. 2E**) cytokines were dysregulated, respectively. To ensure that greater cytokine production in CFA control males did not obscure an inflammatory profile within the EAE males, comparisons of CFA control cytokine concentrations were performed amongst the four genotypes and showed that males did not have a greater expression of cytokines in our control animals (**Fig. S8**)



**Fig. 2: FCG** females display greater cytokine dysregulation in the amygdala in EAE at disease onset. (A) Schematic depiction of the location of tissue punch. Tissue punches were centered around the CeA, denoted by the dotted lines. Tissue punches were homogenized, and cytokine concentrations were assessed via Luminex multuplex immunoassay. (B) Compared to CFA controls, EAE induces significant cytokine dysregulation in the amygdala. (C-F) The amygdala in XXF displays the greatest degree of cytokine dysregulation compared to the other genotypes and the XYM genotype displays the least cytokine dysregulation. Data are presented as change in EAE compared to CFA controls. Significantly downregulated cytokines are shown in red, upregulated cytokines are shown in blue. Horizontal dotted lines on volcano plots represent the significance threshold set at p < 0.05.

#### 3.3.2. Male and female microglia differ minimally in EAE

To delve into potential differences in microglial response to EAE within the CeA, microglial morphology was measured in female and male EAE and naïve control mice. Microglial soma area, volume, and sphericity were measured, in addition to process bifurcations, total length, and longest arborization. Soma volume was greater in female microglia regardless of disease (**Fig. 3B**, effect of sex: F(1,20) = 4.464, p = 0.0474; effect of disease: F(1,20) = 1.164, p = 0.2935; interaction effect of sex and disease: F(1,20) = 0.01191, p = 0.9142). Total process length was higher for female microglia than male microglia, again regardless of disease (**Fig. 3F**, effect of sex: F(1,20) = 5.654, p = 0.0275; effect of disease: F(1,20) = 3.114e-005, p = 0.9956; interaction effect of disease and sex: F(1,20) = 3.515, p = 0.0755) When comparing process bifurcations, a significant interaction effect was found between EAE and sex, showing that male microglia have a reduction in process bifurcations in EAE, but female microglia do not (**Fig. 3E**, effect of sex: F(1,20) = 7.430, p = 0.0130; effect of disease: F(1,20) = 0.7002, p = 0.4126; interaction effect between disease and sex: F(1,20) = 4.497, p = 0.0466). All other measures were not significantly different between EAE and CFA controls or between males and females. This data suggests that there are some, although few, differences in terms of the microglial morphological response to EAE in the CeA of male and female mice.



**Fig. 3: Microglial morphological response to EAE in the CeA differs minimally between sexes in C57BI/6J Cx3cr1**<sup>creER</sup>;**Ai9 mice**. **(A)** Representative images (top) and 3D reconstructions (bottom) created in IMARIS of CeA microglia in sham and EAE mice. **(B)** Female microglial volume is greater than male microglia but is not altered by EAE. **(C)** Microglial soma sphericity is not different between females and males or shams and controls. **(D)** Microglial soma area is not different between females and males or shams and controls. **(E)** Male microglia display a reduction in the number of process branch points in EAE, but female microglia do not. **(F)** Female microglia have a greater total process length than male microglia, but without an effect of EAE. **(G)** The maximum process lengths are unchanged in EAE and not different between males and females. Due to digital zoom when imaging, scales are image specific; analyses on Imaris took this into account. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

To assess another feature of CeA microglia in EAE, we assessed microglial density using both IHC and RNAscope FISH. IBA-1+ cells were not increased in EAE compared to CFA controls (**Fig. 4B**, t(6.281) = 0.3926, *p* = 0.7076) and *Itgam*+ cells were not upregulated in the CeA of EAE mice (**Fig. 4D**, t(16) = 0.6759, *p* = 0.5087). No effects of sex were found.



**Fig. 4: Microglial density within the CeA does not change in EAE in WT C57BI/6J mice. (A)** Representative images of IBA-1 (green) staining via IHC. (B) Total IBA-1+ cells within the CeA do not change in EAE compared to controls. (C) Representative images of *Itgam* (green) staining via RNAscope. (D) Total *Itgam*+ cells within the CeA do not change in EAE. No effects of sex were observed, so sexes are pooled. Females are square, males are circles. Scale bars = 100 μm. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

#### 3.3.3. III $\beta$ and Tnf $\alpha$ predominately colocalize with microglia in EAE, but Cxcl1 and Cxcl10 do not

Microglia are frequently associated with pro-inflammatory responses, so we asked if there were sex differences in microglial expression of classical pro-inflammatory cytokines often associated with microglia, *ll1* $\beta$  and *Tnf* $\alpha$ . Consistent with the results of the Luminex, we found that the total number of *ll1* $\beta$ + cells was not upregulated in EAE compared to CFA controls (**Fig. 5B**, U = 14, *p* = 0.1091). However, *ll1* $\beta$ + ltgam+ cells were found to be significantly upregulated in EAE (**Fig. 5C**, U = 10, *p* = 0.0274), and the colocalization between *ll1* $\beta$ + cells with *ltgam*+ cells was not significantly different between CFA controls and EAE (**Fig. 5D**, t = 2.213, *p* = 0.0597). *Tnf* $\alpha$ + cells were upregulated in EAE (**Fig. 5F**, U = 9, *p* = 0.0019) and *Tnf* $\alpha$ + *ltgam*+ cells were similarly found to be upregulated (**Fig. 5G**, U = 10.50, *p* = 0.0030). No difference was found in colocalization of *Tnf* $\alpha$ + cells and *ltgam*+ cells between CFA controls and EAE (**Fig. 5H**, t(15) = 0.2265, *p* = 0.8239). No significant interaction effect of sex and disease was found in any analysis, so sexes are pooled. These results indicate that pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly *Tnf* $\alpha$ , are upregulated within the CeA at EAE onset and that microglia are the primary producers of these cytokines. However, this upregulation is not sex dependent. The mRNA of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL17 was also stained, but no *ll*17+ cells were found in CFA or EAE (data not shown).



Fig. 5: Pro-inflammatory cytokines predominately colocalize with microglia in the CeA in EAE. (A) Representative images of *ll1* $\beta$  (red) and *ltgam* (green) RNAscope in the CeA in CFA and EAE. (B) Total *ll1* $\beta$ + cells are unchanged in the CeA in EAE. (C) Total *ll1* $\beta$ +*ltgam*+ cells are upregulated in EAE. (D) Colocalization of *ll1* $\beta$  with *ltgam*+ cells is not significantly upregulated in EAE within the CeA. (E) Representative images of *Tnfa* (red) and *ltgam* (green) RNAscope in the CeA in CFA and EAE. (F) Total *Tnfa*+ cells are significantly upregulated in EAE. (G) Total *Tnfa*+*ltgam*+ cells are upregulated in EAE. (D) Colocalization of *Tnfa* and *ltgam*+ cells is not significantly upregulated in EAE. Yellow arrows denote *ltgam*+ cells. White arrows denote cytokine+ cells. No effects of sex were observed, so sexes are pooled. Females are square, males are circles. 20X images have a scale bar = 100 µm. Zoomed images have a scale bar = 20 µm. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

To determine if microglia were the primary producers of chemokines shown to be differentially dysregulated in XX and/or gonadal females, *Cxcl1* and *Cxcl10* were stained alongside the microglial marker, *Itgam*, in the CeA. Within the CeA, *Cxcl1*+ cells were increased in EAE compared to CFA controls (**Fig. 6B**, U = 9.500, p = 0.0305). *Cxcl1*+*Itgam*+ cells were not upregulated in EAE (**Fig. 6C**, U = 23, p = 0.5736) and colocalization of *Cxcl1*+ cells and *Itgam*+ cells did not increase in EAE (**Fig. 6D**, t(12) = 0.6705, p = 0.5152). *Cxcl10*+ cells were not upregulated in the CeA in EAE (**Fig. 6F**, t(14) = 0.4107, p = 0.6875), nor were *Cxcl10*+*Itgam*+ cells (**Fig. 6G**, U = 24, p = 0.4383) or *Cxcl10*+ colocalization with *Itgam*+ cells (**Fig. 6H**, t(11) = 1.398, p = 0.1897). No interaction effect of sex and disease was found in any analysis, so sexes were pooled. The lack of sex effect in total positive cell counts of *Il1* $\beta$ , *Tnf* $\alpha$ , *Cxcl1*, or *Cxcl10* cannot be explained by influence of other regions (BLA or IC) within the tissue punches from our Luminex (**Fig. S9**).



Fig. 6: *Cxcl1* and *Cxcl10* colocalize at low levels with microglia in the CeA. (A) Representative images of *Cxcl1* (red) and *Itgam* (green) RNAscope in the CeA in CFA and EAE. (B) Total *Cxcl1*+ cells are upregulated in the CeA in EAE. (C) Total *Cxcl1+Itgam*+ cells are not upregulated in EAE. (D) Colocalization of *Cxcl1* with *Itgam*+ cells is not upregulated in EAE within the CeA. (E) Representative images of *Cxcl10* (red) and *Itgam* (green) RNAscope in the CeA in CFA and EAE. (F) Total *Cxcl10*+ cells are unchanged in EAE. (G) Total *Cxcl1+Itgam*+ cells are unchanged in EAE. (G) Total *Cxcl1+Itgam*+ cells are unchanged in EAE. (D) Colocalization of *Cxcl10* (red) and *Itgam* (green) RNAscope in the CeA in CFA and EAE. (F) Total *Cxcl10*+ cells are unchanged in EAE. (G) Total *Cxcl1+Itgam*+ cells are unchanged in EAE. (D) Colocalization of *Cxcl10* and *Itgam*+ cells is not significantly upregulated in EAE. Yellow arrows denote *Itgam*+ cells. White arrows denote cytokine+ cells. Sexes are pooled. Females are square, males are circles. 20X images have a scale bar = 100 µm. Zoomed images have a scale bar = 20 µm. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

### 3.3.4. Cxcl1 and Cxcl10 primarily colocalize with Gfap+ astrocytes in the CeA

Colocalization of *Cxcl1* and *Cxcl10* with microglia was minimal and not upregulated in EAE, so we decided to investigate the colocalization of these chemokines with GFAP+ astrocytes. Consistent with our results in WT mice, using FCG mice we found an upregulation of *Cxcl1*+ cells in the CeA (**Fig. 7B**, t(10.96) = 3.767, p = 0.0031) but not *Cxcl10*+ cells (**Fig. 7F**, U = 36.50, p = 0.7725). There was an increase in *Cxcl1+Gfap*+ cells in EAE (**Fig. 7C**, U = 10.50, p = 0.0049); no difference was seen in *Cxcl10+Gfap*+ cells (**Fig. 7G**, U = 20, p = 0.0713). In EAE, there were significantly more *Cxcl1*+ cells colocalized with *Gfap*+ cells than in CFA controls and this effect was sex dependent where XYM animals had significantly greater upregulation of cells that colocalized than females did (**Fig. 7D**, effect of disease: F(1,12) = 7.004, p = 0.0213; effect of sex: F(1,12) = 0.6207, p = 0.4461; interaction effect of sex and disease: F(1,12) = 4.959, p = 0.0459). No difference was observed between CFA and EAE in terms of *Cxcl10* colocalization with *Gfap*+ cells (**Fig. 7H**, t(14) = 1.141, p = 0.2732). Unless otherwise stated, no effect of sex was found and therefore sex was pooled for analyses.



#### Fig. 7: Cxcl1 and Cxcl10 colocalize at greater levels with Gfap+ astrocytes in the CeA. (A)

Representative images of *Cxcl1* (red) and *Gfap* (green) RNAscope in the CeA in CFA and EAE. (B) Total *Cxcl1*+ cells are upregulated in the CeA in EAE. (C) Total *Cxcl1*+*Gfap*+ cells are upregulated in the CeA in EAE. (D) colocalization of *Cxcl1*+ cells with astrocytes is increased in EAE. (E) Representative images of *Cxcl10* (red) and *Itgam* (green) RNAscope in the CeA in CFA and EAE. (F) Total *Cxcl10*+ cells are not upregulated in the CeA in EAE. (G) *Cxcl10*+*Gfap*+ cells are not upregulated in EAE. (H) Colocalization of *Cxcl10* and *Gfap*+ cells are not upregulated in EAE. (G) *Cxcl10*+*Gfap*+ cells are not upregulated in EAE. (H) Colocalization of *Cxcl10* and *Gfap*+ cells are not upregulated in EAE. Yellow arrows denote *Gfap*+ cells. White arrows denote cytokine+ cells. As an interaction effect of sex is only seen in *Cxcl1* colocalization with *Gfap*, sexes are pooled. Females are square, males are circles. 20X images have a scale bar = 100 µm. Zoomed images have a scale bar = 20 µm. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

#### 3.3.5. Gfap+ astrocytes are increased in the CeA of XXF mice in EAE, but not in XYM mice

Astrogliosis is often characterized by increased proliferation of astrocytes (Anderson et al., 2014). To further investigate the astrocytic response within the CeA in EAE, we measured total *Gfap*+ cell counts within the CeA of XXF and XYM EAE and CFA control mice. More *Gfap*+ cells were found in the CeA of EAE XXF mice, but not in XYM mice (**Fig. 8B**, interaction effect between sex and disease: F(1,14) = 8.383, *p* = 0.0118). These results indicate that there may be increased astrogliosis within the CeA of females in EAE, but not in males.



**Fig. 8:** *Gfap*+ astrocytes display increased density in EAE XXF mice, but not in EAE XYM mice. (A) Representative images of *Gfap* (green) staining in the CeA. (B) *Gfap*+ cells are upregulated in the CeA of XXF mice, but not XYM mice. Scale bar = 100 μm. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

#### 3.3.6. Few immune cells infiltrate into the CeA at EAE disease onset

Within the spinal cord, infiltration of leukocytes has been observed in neuropathic pain models and EAE (Draleau et al., 2014; Dworsky-Fried et al., 2022). As we did not observe complete colocalization between cytokines and microglia or astrocytes we decided to investigate the possibility of infiltrating immune cells in the CeA. To investigate the source of the dysregulated cytokines within the brains of WT C57BI/6J mice, we performed IHC to assess the presence of infiltrating leukocytes using the pan-leukocyte marker, CD45. As microglia express low levels of CD45, tissue was also stained for IBA-1 and cells that expressed both markers were deemed to be non-infiltrating. No difference was observed between CFA controls and EAE animals within the CeA (**Fig. 9B**, t(8.935) = 1.998, *p* = 0.0770), indicating that infiltrating immune cells are unlikely to be contributing to the cytokine environment within the CeA.

As we found a trend towards increased infiltrating immune cells within the CeA, we decided to probe what cells might be infiltrating. EAE is predominately believed to be a T cell-driven disease and CD4+ T cells have been shown to infiltrate into the spinal cord to a greater extent than other immune cells at early disease timepoints (Barthelmes et al., 2016). As such, we stained for CD4+ cells to investigate whether CD4+ T cells were infiltrating. No differences were observed between CFA and EAE in the CeA (**Fig.9C**, U = 16.50, p = 0.8593). This indicates that there may be infiltrating immune cells within the parenchyma of the brain at EAE onset, although the infiltrating immune cells are unlikely to be CD4+ T cells.



**Fig. 9: Minimal leukocyte infiltration in CeA at EAE onset. (A)** Representative images of CD45 (**red**), a pan-leukocyte marker and IBA-1, a marker for microglia, (**green**) IHC staining in the CeA of WT C57BI/6J mice. White arrows denote CD45+/IBA-1- cells, indicating infiltrating immune cells. (**B**) Cells positive for CD45 but negative for IBA-1 are not significantly upregulated in the CeA in EAE. (**C**) CD4+ cells are not upregulated in the CeA. Females are squares, males are circles. Zoomed out scale bar = 100  $\mu$ m. Zoomed in scale bar = 20  $\mu$ m. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

3.4. Discussion

#### 3.4.1. EAE induces cytokine dysregulation within the amygdala

In our initial foray into evaluating the immune sequelae of EAE in the amygdala, we found a significant degree of dysregulation of cytokines. The majority of studied cytokines can be grouped into 4 main categories based on their primary known functions: chemokines, angiogenic factors, and pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines. Most of the dysregulated cytokines were chemokines (composing 9 of 14 dysregulated cytokines), and 1 cytokine from each of the other groups were found to be decreased in EAE. Additionally, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) and tissue inhibitor matrix metalloproteinase 1 (TIMP-1) were found to be upregulated in EAE. This suggests that the inflammatory environment of the amygdala in EAE is dominated by chemokine communicators.

The primary known function of chemokines is to communicate with immune cells to facilitate the migration from one region to another. Traditionally, this effect is chemoattractive, wherein a chemokine will bind to its receptor on an immune cell, facilitating the movement of that immune cell to the source of that chemokine (Hughes & Nibbs, 2018). For example, CCL11, found to be ubiquitously upregulated in the amygdala of EAE animals in this study, binds preferentially to CCR3, which is expressed primarily on eosinophils but also to a lesser degree on neutrophils, facilitating the migration of these immune cells (Heath et al., 1997). Although we did not find a statistically significant increase in infiltrating immune cells within the CeA, this was likely driven by a low sample size in our CFA control group, and it is likely that there are low levels of infiltrating immune cells within the CeA in EAE animals at disease onset. Potential infiltrating immune cells are discussed below in §3.4.6.

Chemokine function has been explored for many decades, and while promotion of chemotaxis is the most well-defined function of chemokines, there are a plethora of alternative functions that chemokines can have on immune cells (López-Cotarel et al., 2017). Additionally, chemokines can play a role in neuromodulation and vascular remodelling via non-immune cell mediated effects (Salvador et al., 2021; Schober A, 2008). For example, CXCR3, the primary receptor for interferon-induced chemokines, CXCL9 and CXCL10, which were found to be upregulated in this study, has also been shown to be upregulated on neurons in the DRG and spinal cord following spinal nerve ligation in male subjects (Jiang et al., 2017; Kong et al., 2021). Both studies show that CXCL10-CXCR3 binding increases the firing rate of neurons that express the receptor, contributing to the neuropathic pain elicited by the nerve ligation, presenting the possibility that CXCL10 in the CeA in EAE may be directly acting on neurons. Conversely, in the hippocampus of viral infected male mice, endothelial-and epithelial-derived CXCL10 acts on neurons to inhibit long term potentiation, suggesting that the effects of CXCL10 may be region specific and can induce either increased or decreased neuronal activity depending on location (Blank et al., 2016). As no studies have assessed the role of CXCL10 in the CeA, the exact function of CXCL10 on neurons in this region, if there are any, is unknown. It is also worth noting that CXCR3 is an X-linked gene that escapes X-inactivation, adding further intrigue into this pathway in our current experiment evaluating sex differences. As the scope of our study did not include receptors, the precise function of dysregulated chemokines remains an interesting yet unelucidated question.

Although the majority of dysregulated cytokines were chemokines, there were some consistently dysregulated ligands that were not. VEGF was found to be downregulated in our comparison of all CFA and EAE animals, but this effect also seems to be mediated by gonadal females as we only saw significant downregulation of VEGF in XXF and XYF EAE animals compared to CFA controls, but not XXM or XYM. Interestingly, in 2018, Rothammer et al. found that knockdown of microglial VEGF was able to ameliorate EAE disease severity. The authors also showed in culture that microglial VEGF induced a greater pro-inflammatory response from astrocytes and resulted in greater toxicity towards neurons and oligodendrocytes, suggesting that VEGF may be an important mediator of microglial-astrocyte communication facilitating EAE disease severity. The amygdala has no known role in EAE disease onset, and we did not find VEGF downregulation within our somatosensory punches, suggesting that this is not a pan-CNS response. Aside from cell-to-cell communication, VEGF also plays an important role in angiogenesis (Melincovici et al., 2018). No studies to date have investigated the BBB in the amygdala in EAE; however, two studies have investigated the BBB permeability in the amygdala in other conditions. Xu et al. (2019) found that in male Sprague Dawley rats, chronic restraint stress induced enhanced blood brain barrier permeability within the amygdala. Interestingly, Vore et al. (2022) investigated the effect of adolescent intermittent ethanol exposure in male and female Sprague Dawley rats and found that females did not exhibit increased BBB permeability, while males did, although not in the amygdala, suggesting region, sex, and condition specificity to this effect. These studies suggest that specific pathological conditions can induce enhanced BBB permeability in the amygdala in a sex-dependent way, implicating a

potential link to explain our VEGF findings, as decreased VEGF in female EAE animals may facilitate enhanced blood brain barrier permeability which then augments the infiltration of inflammatory mediators. This is further addressed in §3.4.5 and §3.4.6.

# 3.4.2. Female phenotypes and genotypes are associated with greater inflammation within the amygdala

A major finding of our current study is that within the amygdala there is greater dysregulation of cytokines in EAE mice with either XX chromosome complement and/or ovaries compared to EAE mice with XY chromosome complement or testes. This is consistent with the DRG in EAE at disease onset, where it has previously been shown that female mice have significantly greater transcriptional dysregulation of the immune system in EAE than male mice (Friedman et al., 2019).

This exaggerated immune dysregulation in EAE females is, however, not universal within the CNS. In the spinal cord of EAE mice at disease onset, Catuneanu et al. (2019) showed no sex differences in immune cell infiltration or microglial morphology in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord; instead, astrogliosis and axonal damage seemed to be increased more in male spinal cords. Although the authors of that study found no sex difference in demyelination within the dorsal horn, Wiedrick et al. (2021) found significantly more demyelination in the lumbar spinal cord of female EAE mice than males at 20 days post-induction. Wiedrick et al. further elaborated on their spinal cord analyses with a comprehensive chemokine/receptor RT-PCR experiment wherein they found that within EAE, greater dysregulation occurred in males than in females. Interestingly, the authors evaluated naïve chemokine levels in addition to CFA controls and EAE animals and found that at a baseline, female mice had ~25% greater chemokine expression compared to males. Chemokine dysregulation in the CFA group compared to the naïve baselines revealed that the males had stronger response to CFA, reacting 50% more to CFA than females. When comparing CFA to EAE mice then, it appears they have relatively similar disease changes, which masks the differences in change from naïve baselines. This has implications for our current study as the implicit assumption was that the male and female responses to CFA were comparable, which may not be true, particularly given our behavioural results suggesting that the gonadal females may have an exaggerated immune response (Fig. 1B,E; Fig. S2). As such, there was the

possibility that our Luminex data shows greater dysregulation in mice with XX chromosomes and gonadal females in the EAE group compared to the CFA group because the CFA and EAE groups of XY and gonadal males were both already elevated compared to what would be naïve conditions. To address this, we compared the concentrations of cytokines from our Luminex in the CFA control groups. Fig. S8 shows the nine cytokine comparisons of the CFA FCG mice for the Luminex data where we found a significant effect. Of the 45 cytokines analyzed in our CFA animals, CCL4 was higher in gonadal females, IL9 and CXCL10 were higher in XY animals, and 6 other ligands had a significant interaction effect (CCL11, CCL21, CCL22, IL-10, IL-11, & EPO). Of these, CCL11, CCL22, and EPO had the highest expression in the XYF genotype, ameliorating concern that these cytokines might be being masked by a high CFA baseline in the male mice. Only IL-10 had a significantly greater expression in the XYM CFA mice, but we did not observe dysregulation of IL-10 in any specific genotype, so while it is possible that IL-10 may have some masked sex effects, they are likely to be minor. This data suggests that the baseline sex differences of our CFA controls likely do not contribute to the sex effects that we see when comparing EAE response in each genotype. Further studies should be performed to assess the naïve inflammatory expression within the amygdala of FCG mice to evaluate whether naïve baseline differences play a significant role in disease state inflammation.

Altogether, the results from our Luminex multiplex immunoassay indicate that in EAE there is significant dysregulation within the amygdala and that animals with XX chromosome complement or ovaries experience greater dysregulation in cytokine protein expression than animals with XY chromosomes or testes. This provides evidence to support our hypothesis that the female inflammatory environment within the CeA is more dysregulated in EAE.

### 3.4.3. Microglia largely do not exhibit sex differences in the CeA in EAE

Given the known roles of microglia in cytokine production and the sex differences observed in Dworsky-Fried et al. (2022) following direct LPS administration to the CeA, we asked if microglia were the primary facilitators of our observed sex differences. Changes in soma characteristics are an established method of assessing microglial reactivity following induction of chronic pain (Taylor et al., 2017). Microglial changes within the CeA have been shown in conditions of stress-induced visceral pain (Yuan et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2022) and EAE (Dworsky-Fried et al., 2022). In EAE, microglial cell body size has been shown to change similarly between males and females, but only males see a significant change in the number of cell branches (Dworsky-Fried et al., 2022). To try to further expand on this work, we utilized a Cx3cr1<sup>CreER</sup>;Ai9 mouse model where CX3CR1+ cells constitutively expressed TdTomato, allowing for the visualization of microglia within the CNS at a high resolution. By selectively providing tamoxifen at days 14-16, we also avoid labelling infiltrating macrophages (Plemel et al., 2020). In terms of response to EAE, we found very few differences in microglial morphological responses between females and males. Our findings largely recapitulate the work of Dworsky-Fried et al. (2022) wherein soma changes are sex-independent, but we do find a difference in one characteristic of microglial processes: the number of bifurcations. Akin to the findings of the previous study, the number of bifurcations decreased in male microglia in EAE, but not in females. This may signify a modest functional difference between male and female microglia within the CeA between males and females in response to EAE may not be substantially different.

To further characterize the microglial response to EAE, we quantified microglial cell counts using both IHC and RNAscope. In both assays, we did not observe a significant difference in total microglial cell counts within the CeA, nor did we observe an effect of sex. Although no studies have assessed the effect of chronic pain on CeA microglia proliferation, microglia have been shown to proliferate in various pain models within the spinal cord (Jiang et al., 2022a; Tsujikawa et al., 2023), basolateral amygdala (Jiang et al., 2022b), and somatosensory cortex (Wang et al., 2019). In EAE, microglia have been shown to proliferate in the spinal cord (Hammer et al., 2015), although no studies have reported on microglial proliferation in EAE within the brain, indicating that our results within the CeA are novel. Our results suggest that proliferation is not a feature of the microglial response to EAE in the CeA. Together with our morphological analyses, it appears that the microglial response to EAE in the CeA may not be the primary driver for sex differences in the inflammatory environment. However, given the highly complex functions of microglia, the physical features may not be representative of the role that these cells play in inflammation. To assess the inflammatory functions of microglia in the CeA more directly, we utilized RNAscope to
evaluate the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and sexually dimorphic chemokines within microglia.

# 3.4.4. Microglia upregulate mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines within the CeA without sex effect in EAE

Within the CNS, microglia have been shown to produce several pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  (Smith et al., 2012). Although we did not find upregulation of IL1 $\beta$  in the amygdala, consistent with the findings of Chanaday & Roth (2016) in the frontal cortex of rats at EAE onset, we asked if, at the transcriptional level, microglia were producing different levels of these pro-inflammatory cytokines. Consistent with our Luminex results, we did not find an overall upregulation of *II1\beta*+ cells, though we did find an upregulation of *II1\beta*+*Itgam*+ cells, suggesting that CeA microglia are upregulating IL1 $\beta$ , albeit modestly. The lack of change in our Luminex in IL1 $\beta$  may be explained by the heavy processing of IL1 $\beta$  that occurs prior to being a functional mediator of communication; we may see an increase in IL1 $\beta$  mRNA, but the molecule isn't being translated and processed to its final form. Alternatively, excess IL1 $\beta$  protein may be cleared extremely quickly to bring the expression back to CFA control levels. Regardless, it appears that in EAE, microglia within the CeA upregulate the expression of *II1\beta*. However, our findings suggest that this is independent of sex, as we do not find differences between our males and females. This is similar to our findings in TNF $\alpha$ .

Although we were unable to detect TNF $\alpha$  in our Luminex, TNF $\alpha$  mRNA was readily detectable in our RNAscope assay. We saw a significant upregulation of *Tnf* $\alpha$ + cells in the CeA in EAE, the majority of which being microglia. The discrepancy between our Luminex and RNAscope experiments likely speaks to a failure in our ability to appropriately measure TNF $\alpha$  concentration given our inability to measure it in both the CFA and EAE groups, though further studies should be performed to verify this speculation. The high, but not total, colocalization of *Tnf* $\alpha$  with microglia is consistent with previous reports of microglia being the primary producers of TNF $\alpha$  in the CNS (Gonzalez Caldito N, 2023). As we found with *II1* $\beta$ , the changes in mRNA expression of TNF $\alpha$  did not differ between males and females, suggesting that the proinflammatory cytokines produced by microglia may not be dependent on sex. As we did not evaluate posttranscriptional differences, there may be sex-dependent changes in protein expression that we are unable to assess, although given our lack of sex effects in our Luminex assay, this is unlikely for these classical pro-inflammatory cytokines. On the other hand, several cytokines from our Luminex were found to be upregulated in either only gonadal females or animals with XX sex chromosome complement. As such, we asked if these cytokines were being produced by microglia in a sex dependent way.

## 3.4.5. Astrocytes potentially mediate the sex-dependent differences in inflammatory milieu of the CeA in EAE

We selected two chemokines to investigate: CXCL1, which was upregulated in the amygdala of animals with XX sex chromosome complement but not XY, and CXCL10, which was upregulated in the amygdala of XXF, XXM, and XYF mice, though to a greater extent in gonadal females. Both of these cytokines have been implicated in pain (Aloyouny et al., 2020; Silva et al., 2017) and in EAE (Dhaiban et al., 2020; Grist et al., 2018), although only CXCL1 has been studied for its role in pain in EAE (Zhang et al., 2019a). Despite known differences in pain and MS, the majority of works to date have neglected to evaluate the influence of sex on these cytokines and their functions. Following intraperitoneal injection of LPS, an endotoxin that activates TLR4, into CD1 mice, females display a greater upregulation of both CXCL1 and CXCL10 within the liver than males do, showing that these cytokines are regulated differently between sexes (Dunstan et al., 2024). Further, sex effects of CXCL1 in pain have been demonstrated in the DRG using a murine model of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (Luo et al., 2019). This study found that TLR9 on macrophages was important in the expression of CXCL1 in response to paclitaxel treatment in males, but not in females. The canonical receptor of CXCL1, CXCR2, has also been shown to be influenced in sex dependent ways. Using a model of low back pain caused by intervertebral disc degeneration, Lee et al. (2022) found that female mice that were allowed to run had a significant upregulation of CXCR2, an effect not seen in males. CXCL10, on the other hand, has largely been unexplored for potential sex differences, although its receptor, CXCR3 is X-linked and can escape X-inactivation, particularly in T cells, resulting in greater expression of this receptor in female T cells (Oghumu et al., 2019). Neither of these chemokines have been extensively studied within the amygdala, however.

The only studies to date that investigate CXCL1 or CXCL10 in the amygdala have looked at chronic stress or alcohol withdrawal. While investigating stress-induced depression-like behaviour in mice, Li et al. (2018) found a significant upregulation of CXCL1 in the amygdala of male mice. Following cessation of chronic ethanol consumption in male C57Bl/6J mice, McCarthy et al. (2018) found a downregulation of *Cxcl10* in the amygdala, though they did not report protein concentration. Neither study investigated the effect in female mice, nor investigated pain, presenting a clear deficit in the literature.

We first quantified the total Cxc/1+ cells and found, independent of sex, an upregulation of cells in EAE within the CeA. However, in contrast to what we found in our Luminex, when we assessed the total Cxc/10+ cells we did not observe an upregulation in EAE in either sex. This implicates a role in posttranscriptional functions that could facilitate the sex differences seen in our Luminex, but also potentially of the pro-inflammatory cytokines that we studied. Cytokine mRNA is cleared relatively quickly due to an AU sequence near the 3' end, but the speed of clearance still varies, and this may contribute to our observed differences (Shaw & Kamen, 1986). It has previously been shown in mouse cultured fibroblasts and bone-derived macrophages that the stability of cytokine mRNA, including *Tnf*, *Cxcl1*, and *Cxcl10*, have different half-lives, which could explain our confounding findings depending on the exact timeline by which cytokine dysregulation is occurring (Hao & Baltimore, 2009). This has also not been studied for sex differences, so this may be a sex-dependent process. Alternatively, the differences that we are observing in our Luminex data may be driven at the translational level. The lack of clear chromosomal or hormonal effects within our Luminex suggests an interaction between multiple pathways that warrants further investigation to elucidate the contribution of each sex-related pathway to dysregulation of the immune system. For example, the sex chromosome-encoded RNA helicases DDX3X, which escapes X chromosome-inactivation, and its Y-chromosome correlate, DDX3Y, have recently been shown to be sexually dimorphic in their ability to repress translation, wherein cultured cells with DDX3Y and DDX3X, as would be found in males, have greater repression of translation than cells with two copies of the DDX3X gene (Shen et al., 2022). Loss of DDX3X in mice preferentially reduces circulating lymphoid cells in vivo, and in vitro reduction of DDX3X in macrophages reduces the RNA upregulation of various cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, and CXCL10 in the presence of microbial insult (Szappanos et al., 2018). DDX3X has also been shown to mediate microglial inflammatory responses to LPS and spinal cord injury

in female mice (Wang et al., 2022) and this effect has been replicated in cultured astrocytes where DDX3X expression was increased alongside GFAP in response to P2Y1R ligand binding, though the authors did not disclose the sex of the cell line (Alam et al., 2023). Together, this evidence places DDX3 genes in prime position to be a potential mediator for the sex differences in neuroinflammation within the CeA that we observed.

Following our assessment of total *Cxcl1* and *Cxcl10* positive cells, we investigated what cells were producing these cytokines. We found very low colocalization of both cytokines with *Itgam*, our microglial marker, in either CFA or EAE condition and no effect of disease. Instead, we found a significant upregulation of *Cxcl1+Gfap+* cells in EAE and better colocalization of *Cxcl10+* cells with *Gfap+* cells in both CFA and EAE, suggesting that astrocytes upregulate expression of *Cxcl1* in the CeA in EAE and more astrocytes express *Cxcl10* than microglia. An upregulation of astrocyte-mediated inflammation in EAE within the CeA would be consistent with other works that have shown astrocyte upregulation of immune genes in the spinal cord (Itoh et al., 2017). Although we still do not find sex differences in these experiments, our finding that astrocytes may underlie the sex differences in inflammation from our Luminex. This argument is further supported by our finding that *Gfap+* astrocytes are only upregulated in EAE of XXF mice in the CeA, but not XYM mice. Together, this data suggests that reactive astrogliosis in EAE is greater within the CeA of female mice, which may then facilitate a greater inflammatory response.

Astrocyte involvement in MS and EAE pathogenesis is well established (Kunkl et al., 2022; Yi et al., 2019), as is their involvement in chronic pain conditions (Ji et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2022). Several studies have assessed the roles of spinal astrocytes on neuropathic pain during the early stage of EAE and found increased astrocyte reactivity at EAE disease onset (Ding et al., 2022; Dutra et al., 2013; Segal et al., 2020). To directly investigate the role of spinal astrocytes in EAE-induced pain, Ding et al. (2022) performed intrathecal injections of the astrocytotoxin, L- $\alpha$ -aminoadipate, to inhibit astrocyte reactivity during the presymptomatic stage of the disease when EAE animals were demonstrating mechanical hypersensitivity. The authors found that inhibition of astrocyte reactivity facilitated a recovery of nociceptive thresholds, highlighting the importance of astrocytes in EAE-induced pain. Interestingly, the authors also cleared microglia from the spinal cord using PLX and found no change in nociceptive

thresholds. However, all mice used in this experiment were female; given the current dogma of the importance of microglia in the facilitation of pain in male mice, experiments such as these may be ignoring sex differences in the involvement of astrocytes in EAE-induced pain.

To that end, sex differences in astrocyte response to EAE have been presented previously. Spence et al. (2011) demonstrated that conditional knockout of estrogen receptor from astrocytes, but not neurons, diminished the protective effects of estrogen on EAE disease severity, underscoring the importance of sex hormones in astrocyte function. Another study from the Voskuhl Lab revealed sex differences in the astrocytic transcriptomic response to EAE within the optic nerve (Tassoni et al., 2019). At early and chronic stages of the EAE disease course, the authors show significant upregulation of GFAP within the optic nerve and this upregulation is associated with an increase in complement component proteins, namely C3, a complement protein associated with neurotoxic astrocytes. However, this effect was only seen in females; male astrocytes of the optic nerve had significantly greater upregulation of THBS1, a neuroprotective factor. In line with these findings, only female mice had a significant reduction of axonal density within the optic nerve and females also experienced significantly greater retinal ganglion cell loss than males. Clearly there are sex-dependent mechanisms in the astrocytic response to EAE, though the full extent of these differences has yet to be revealed.

The function of astrocytes within the CeA has not been fully elucidated, and the studies that have been performed do not adequately address the inflammatory role of astrocytes in chronic pain in both sexes. Using a spared nerve injury model, Sagalajev et al. (2018) attempted to show the function of unilateral (right) CeA astrocytes by specific inhibition using either gap-junction decouplers or D-amino acid oxidase inhibitors. They found no effect on mechanical hypersensitivity of administering either drug to the CeA, although they also note that both drugs have several off-target effects and only male animals were used. Similarly, Wahis et al. (2021) showed that bilateral activation of oxytocin receptor-expressing astrocytes within the CeA of male and female C57BI/6J mice induced an increase in inhibitory post-synaptic currents in CeA neurons, although they found no effect on mechanical hypersensitivity within either their spared nerve injury cohort or their controls. These findings suggest that astrocytes in the CeA are mediating other effects independent of pain-signalling. However, it should be noted that exogenous activation of astrocytes does not replicate physiological conditions and the contribution of astrocytes to

the inflammatory environment within chronic pain states, including MS and EAE, is more complex than simply activated or not activated.

While an effect on pain or nociception has not been found, astrocyte activity within the CeA has been found to influence fear and anxiety. Martin-Fernandez et al. (2017) bilaterally activated CeA astrocytes of male C57BI/6J mice using Gq-DREADDs and found an increase in inhibitory signalling from neurons. This increased inhibitory drive of the CeA was associated with decreased fear responses, but no alteration of anxiety behaviour as measured by the elevated plus maze. These findings were largely recapitulated by Wiktorowska et al. in 2021, where the authors found that ablating the glucocorticoid receptor from CeA astrocytes of C57BI/6N mice reduced fear responses and decreased anxiety as measured by open field. However, it should be noted that the authors did not report the sex of the mice used in these experiments. As chronic pain models, including EAE (Majidi-Zolbanin et al., 2015; Trifunovic et al., 2021), have been shown to influence anxiety and stress responses in mice, astrocytes within the CeA may be more involved in the multifaceted cognitive and emotional aspects of pain than in the sensory or nociceptive aspects.

There are several caveats to this component of the current project. First, GFAP has been shown to be poorly expressed in subcortical grey matter (Zhang et al., 2019b). As such, we are likely not staining all astrocytes within the CeA in our analysis and therefore cannot discern whether there is pan-reactivity of astrocytes in the CeA of EAE females or whether it is a specific subset of astrocytes that express GFAP. Given the reported difficulty in labelling astrocytes within this region, using multiple probes or genetic lines may be warranted to get a more ubiquitous assessment of astrocytes in this region (Koh et al., 2017; Marowsky et al., 2009). Another limitation is that while several cytokines were dysregulated in the amygdala, we only assessed the colocalization of *Cxcl1* and *Cxcl10* with *Gfap+* astrocytes and did not characterize the origins of the majority of dysregulated cytokines; this could potentially be addressed by comprehensive single cell RNAseq to detect which cells display an upregulation of each cytokine in the CeA of EAE mice. Similarly, greater colocalization of cytokine mRNA with astrocytes does not equate to more release from astrocytes, so it is possible that the astrocytes may not be upregulating the release of the protein products of these mRNA. Lastly, as the experiments investigating astrocytes were only performed in FCG tissue, there is the possibility that this effect is not observed in WT animals. Although

we have found largely consistent results between the two mouse strains, this experiment should be reproduced in WT animals to ensure that there are no differences between strains.

This project provides a brief glimpse into the potential role of astrocytes in the inflammatory environment of the CeA in EAE, but we still do not understand the role that these cells are performing. In EAE, astrocytes can serve both beneficial (Spence et al., 2011; Voskuhl et al., 2009) or deleterious effects (Wheeler et al., 2020). Therefore, it is important to recognize that although we have observed some hints of astrocyte involvement in immune sex differences, more work must be done to determine the actual contribution of astrocytes to the inflammatory environment of the CeA in EAE. This could be addressed via conditional knockouts in the CeA of female and male EAE animals to determine the influence these cells have at the behavioural level. Given the reported sequential influence of microglia on astrocytes in males (Li et al., 2022; Liddelow et al., 2017; Villarreal et al., 2021), it is possible that microglia facilitate an initial immune response via release of inflammatory mediators such as TNF $\alpha$  which then induce a sexspecific effect on astrocytes within the CeA. This sex difference in astrocytes could result from differential expression of either TNF receptors which then mediate different downstream pathways. Astrocytes have been shown to express both TNF receptor types (Yan et al., 2003), but sex differences in astrocyte TNF response have not been assessed. Neurons within the DRG expressing type 1 TNF receptors display an inherent sex bias in signalling pathways where TNF $\alpha$  signalling induces P38 activation whereas in females it preferentially induces the NF-kB pathway, which may mimic the sex diergism in astrocytic response to TNF $\alpha$  (Maguire et al., 2022). However, as we did not perform manipulation experiments of these pathways, it is also possible that astrocyte reactivity in the CeA in EAE is independent of microglial signalling, necessitating further experimentation.

In addition to cytokine production, another primary known function of astrocytes is the maintenance of the BBB (Daneman & Prat, 2015). In 2019, Haruwaka et al. demonstrated that prolonged inflammatory conditions in male mice resulted in increased microglial phagocytosis of astrocytic end-feet. It is possible that males and females in EAE have different degrees of increased BBB permeability due to pathological astrocytic responses. Although we did not find a sex difference in infiltrating immune cells into the CeA in EAE, it is important to note that we have a low sample size in this analysis, limiting our ability to evaluate this. It is also possible that at this early disease timepoint that immune cells are

influencing the CeA parenchyma environment via extravasation of exuded cytokines from within the lumen of blood vessels into the parenchyma without themselves infiltrating. Additionally, as we also only looked at the onset timepoint, we may be observing the beginnings of blood brain barrier degradation, which may be exaggerated in females due to a greater degree of astrogliosis. This could be addressed by a FIT-C or Evans Blue assay to assess blood brain permeability at the time of disease onset. It appears that astrocytes may be major participants in the neuroimmune response within the CeA in EAE, though further research will be needed to determine the precise roles that astrocytes are fulfilling.

#### 3.4.6. There are minimal infiltrating immune cells in the CeA at EAE disease onset

As the aim of this project was to investigate the inflammatory environment of the amygdala in EAE, we assessed whether peripheral immune cells were infiltrating into the CeA and found some suggestion that this was occurring at low levels. EAE has been shown to promote the infiltration of immune cells, particularly CD4+ T cells, into the parenchyma of the spinal cord of both males and females (Mifflin et al., 2017; Nacka-Aleksic et al., 2015). Several of the chemokines we found to be upregulated in our amygdala punches have been shown to be able to facilitate migration of CD4+ cells (Blauth et al., 2015; Khaw et al., 2021; Park et al., 2014; Rapp et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2018). However, we were unable to find any CD4+ cells within the parenchyma of EAE brains within any region, indicating that the infiltrating immune cells are not T helper cells. Additionally, we did not find upregulation of cytokines known to be released by CD4+ T cells such as IFNy, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, or IL-13 (Romagnani S, 1999). Lastly, we received further evidence of this with our assessment of IL17 mRNA, an interleukin known to be produced by CD4+ Th17 cells, wherein we did not find any I/17+ cells in any region analyzed. These results do not preclude, however, the possibility that other lymphoid cells such as CD8+ T cells or B cells are infiltrating, although these immune cells have been shown to infiltrate into the spinal cord later in the disease than CD4+ cells do, suggesting it is unlikely these cells are infiltrating at this early timepoint (Barthelmes et al., 2016).

Although we did not confirm which immune cells were infiltrating, we can speculate based on previous data and which cytokines were upregulated. There are several potential infiltrating immune cells, including mast cells, dendritic cells, monocytes, eosinophils, and neutrophils. Much of the research to

date around mast cells in EAE have pertained to the relationship of resident mast cells in the meninges, where mast cells regulate T cell activity and infiltration (Russi et al., 2016; Sayed et al., 2010). While mast cells seem to infiltrate into the brain parenchyma of patients with MS at perivascular locations and within active lesions, no studies have reported infiltrating mast cells in the brain of EAE animals, making mast cells an unlikely candidate for infiltration of the CeA or other subcortical structures (Russi et al., 2016). Dendritic cells are antigen presenting cells important for the activation of T cells in EAE to elicit demyelination. Using EAE in female CD11c-eYFP mice, Clarkson et al. (2014) found a great concentration of dendritic cells populating the area around the ventricles, but very few dendritic cells were found within subcortical regions, indicating that dendritic cells are also unlikely to be infiltrating into the CeA.

As only CD45+/IBA-1- cells were counted to determine infiltrating immune cells, infiltrating macrophages would not have been counted in our assay due to their expression of IBA-1 (**Fig. 9A**). However, it is possible that monocytes are infiltrating. Within the spinal cord of female C57BI/6J mice, Wang et al. (2021) showed that at peak disease (15 days post-induction), monocyte and macrophage cells infiltrated into the spinal cord to an even greater extent than CD4+ cells. Further, monocyte infiltration into the spinal cord has been shown to be important in EAE disease progression, highlighting that not only does monocyte infiltration occur in EAE, but that it is important for behavioural phenotypes (Ajami et al., 2011). Within the brain, CCR2+ monocytes have been shown to infiltrate at EAE disease peak (Saederup et al., 2010), although this may not be representative of the degree of infiltration at disease onset based on the findings of Ajami et al. (2011) which saw zero monocyte infiltration into the spinal cord at onset. Additionally, monocyte recruitment into the CNS is highly linked to CCL2-CCR2 signalling (Mahad & Ransohoff, 2003). Given that we found CCL2 upregulation in XXM EAE mice only, there does not appear to be a ubiquitous upregulation of the major chemokine signalling pathway to attract monocytes, decreasing the likelihood that monocytes are infiltrating into the CeA at disease onset.

Based on the dysregulated cytokines that we observed in our FCG mice in EAE, two cell types are most likely infiltrating into the amygdala at disease onset. Given the known role of CCL11 in eosinophil migration and the universal upregulation we found in our Luminex, the infiltrating immune cells could be eosinophils. In female Wistar rats, cells expressing CCR3, a marker for eosinophils, were found to be upregulated in the hippocampal fimbria of EAE animals compared to controls during the acute stage of the disease, showcasing that infiltration of eosinophils does occur in the brain of EAE animals (Shou et al., 2019). As we found that CCL11 was the only upregulated cytokine in all four genotypes and we did not see a sex difference in amount of infiltrating immune cells in EAE, this leaves eosinophils as the most likely candidate of infiltrating immune cells. The other most likely candidate cell type are neutrophils. Neutrophils are known to produce many of the chemokines that we found upregulated in our study like CXCL1 and CXCL10, signifying a potential contributor to the inflammatory soup that we observe in the EAE amygdala (Scapini et al., 2000). Neutrophils have also been found within the brain following disease onset in C57BI/6J mice (Jiang et al., 2016). ELR-positive chemokines, such as CXCL1 and CXCL2, specifically induce migration of neutrophils; our analyses of all animals showed upregulation of CXCL1 and downregulation of CXCL2. Comparing different genotypes, the CXCL1 upregulation was only seen in animals with XX chromosome complement, suggesting that the degree of infiltration of neutrophils may be different between female and male mice, which we do not see in our assay. Another piece of evidence is that Simmons et al. (2014) showed that IL-17 promoted and IFN $\gamma$  reduced neutrophil recruitment into the brain of EAE mice 1-3 days post-onset. Given that we were largely unable to find upregulated IL-17 in EAE brains, this decreases the likelihood that neutrophils are the infiltrating immune cells.

Our data indicates that eosinophils or neutrophils are the most likely cell types that could be infiltrating into the amygdala at EAE onset, with monocytes as another potential cell type. It is worth noting that we did not check for infiltrating immune cells within the FCG brains. Given the few differences we found in the Luminex assays performed on the FCG and WT amygdala, and the observation that the differences present may be driven by neuronal-microglial communicators, it is unlikely, though not impossible, that there are different immune cells infiltrating between strains. Depending on which immune cells are infiltrating at this early disease point could play an important role in the inflammatory environment within the amygdala tissue at disease onset to determine the presence of different cell types. Currently, we find evidence to suggest that infiltrating immune cells may be contributing to the inflammatory environment within the CeA at disease onset, though they likely play a minor role, implicating resident immunocompetent cells as the primary drivers of this effect.

#### Conclusion

This thesis presents data pertaining to the use of the FCG model to study EAE as well as the sex differences in the immune response within the amygdala in EAE. We demonstrate that FCG mice respond in a similar manner to WT mice during the presymptomatic period, both behaviourally and immunologically. Utilizing the FCG model to investigate sex differences in the immune system, we demonstrate that female mice display greater immune dysregulation than males do within the amygdala. To investigate the source of these sex differences, we perform morphological, density, and colocalization assays of microglia in the CeA of males and females and find that microglia display minimal sex differences and low colocalization with sexually differential cytokines. Instead, we present evidence to support that astrocytes may mediate these sex differences within the CeA. This work suggests that not only does the degree to which EAE produces an inflammatory state within the CeA differ based on biological sex, but that different cell populations may mediate this response in each sex. Consequently, chronic pain in men and women with MS may arise via different mechanisms and sex may be a critical consideration in the development of potential therapies for pain in MS.

#### Bibliography

- Acharjee, S., Verbeek, M., Gomez, C. D., Bisht, K., Lee, B., Benoit, L., Sharkey, K. A., Benediktsson, A., Tremblay, M. E., & Pittman, Q. J. (2018). Reduced microglial activity and enhanced glutamate transmission in the basolateral amygdala in early CNS autoimmunity. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *38*(42). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0398-18.2018
- Adke, A. P., Khan, A., Ahn, H. S., Becker, J. J., Wilson, T. D., Valdivia, S., Sugimura, Y. K., Gonzalez, S. M., & Carrasquillo, Y. (2021). Cell-type specificity of neuronal excitability and morphology in the central Amygdala. *ENeuro*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0402-20.2020
- Aicher, S. A., Silverman, M. B., Winkler, C. W., & Bebo, B. F. (2004). Hyperalgesia in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *Pain*, *110*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.03.025
- Ajami, B., Bennett, J. L., Krieger, C., McNagny, K. M., & Rossi, F. M. V. (2011). Infiltrating monocytes trigger EAE progression, but do not contribute to the resident microglia pool. *Nature Neuroscience*, *14*(9). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2887
- Alam, S., Afsar, S. Y., Wolter, M. A., Volk, L. M., Mitroi, D. N., Meyer zu Heringdorf, D., & van Echten-Deckert, G. (2023). S1P Lyase Deficiency in the Brain Promotes Astrogliosis and NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation via Purinergic Signaling. *Cells*, *12*(14). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells12141844
- Allen, H. N., Bobnar, H. J., & Kolber, B. J. (2021). Left and right hemispheric lateralization of the amygdala in pain. *Progress in Neurobiology* (Vol. 196). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2020.101891
- Aloyouny, A. Y., Bepari, A., & Rahman, I. (2020). Evaluating the role of CXCR3 in pain modulation: A literature review. In *Journal of Pain Research* (Vol. 13). https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S254276
- Arnold, A. P., & Chen, X. (2009). What does the "four core genotypes" mouse model tell us about sex differences in the brain and other tissues? *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* (Vol. 30, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2008.11.001
- Bair, M. J., Robinson, R. L., Katon, W., & Kroenke, K. (2003). Depression and Pain Comorbidity: A Literature Review. Archives of Internal Medicine (Vol. 163, Issue 20). https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.163.20.2433
- Baliki, M. N., & Apkarian, A. V. (2015). Nociception, Pain, Negative Moods, and Behavior Selection. In *Neuron* (Vol. 87, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.06.005
- Bankhead, P., Loughrey, M. B., Fernandez, J. A., Dombrowski, Y., McArt, D. G., Dunne, P. D., McQuaid, S., Gray, R. T., Murray, L. J., Coleman, H. G., James, J. A., Salto-Tellez, M., Hamilton, P. W. (2017) QuPath: Open-source software for digital pathway image analysis. *Scientific Reports 7.* https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17204-5

- Barthelmes, J., Tafferner, N., Kurz, J., de Bruin, N., Parnham, M. J., Geisslinger, G., & Schiffmann, S. (2016). Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice and evaluation of the disease-dependent distribution of immune cells in various tissues. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 2016(111). https://doi.org/10.3791/53933
- Beery, A. K., & Zucker, I. (2011). Sex bias in neuroscience and biomedical research. In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (Vol. 35, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.07.002
- Biber, K., Tsuda, M., Tozaki-Saitoh, H., Tsukamoto, K., Toyomitsu, E., Masuda, T., Boddeke, H., & Inoue,
   K. (2011). Neuronal CCL21 up-regulates microglia P2X4 expression and initiates neuropathic
   pain development. *EMBO Journal*, *30*(9). https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.89
- Berta, T., Qadri, Y. J., Chen, G., & Ji, R. R. (2016). Microglial Signaling in Chronic Pain with a Special Focus on Caspase 6, p38 MAP Kinase, and Sex Dependence. *Journal of Dental Research*, 95(10). https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034516653604
- Bielecki, B., Jatczak-Pawlik, I., Wolinski, P., Bednarek, A., & Glabinski, A. (2015). Central Nervous System and Peripheral Expression of CCL19, CCL21 and Their Receptor CCR7 in Experimental Model of Multiple Sclerosis. Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis, 63(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00005-015-0339-9
- Blank, T., Detje, C. N., Spieß, A., Hagemeyer, N., Brendecke, S. M., Wolfart, J., Staszewski, O., Zöller, T., Papageorgiou, I., Schneider, J., Paricio-Montesinos, R., Eisel, U. L. M., Manahan-Vaughan, D., Jansen, S., Lienenklaus, S., Lu, B., Imai, Y., Müller, M., Goelz, S. E., ... Prinz, M. (2016). Brain Endothelial- and Epithelial-Specific Interferon Receptor Chain 1 Drives Virus-Induced Sickness Behavior and Cognitive Impairment. *Immunity*, *44*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.04.005
- Blauth, K., Zhang, X., Chopra, M., Rogan, S., & Markovic-Plese, S. (2015). The role of fractalkine (CX3CL1) in regulation of CD4+ cell migration to the central nervous system in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Clinical Immunology*, 157(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2015.01.001
- Bliss, T. V. P., Collingridge, G. L., Kaang, B. K., & Zhuo, M. (2016). Synaptic plasticity in the anterior cingulate cortex in acute and chronic pain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 17, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.68
- Canadian Pain Task Force. (2020). Working Together to Better Understand, Prevent, and Manage Chronic Pain: What We Heard. H134-17-2020-eng.pdf
- Cantu, D. J., Kaur, S., Murphy, A. Z., & Averitt, D. L. (2022). Sex differences in the amygdaloid projections to the ventrolateral periaqueductal gray and their activation during inflammatory pain in the rat. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy*, 124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2022.102123
- Catuneanu, A., Paylor, J. W., Winship, I., Colbourne, F., & Kerr, B. J. (2019). Sex differences in central nervous system plasticity and pain in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Pain*, 160(5). https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001483

- Chanaday, N. L., & Roth, G. A. (2016). Microglia and astrocyte activation in the frontal cortex of rats with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neuroscience*, *314*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.11.060
- Chaplan, S. R., Bach, F. W., Pogrel, J. W., Chung, J. M., & Yaksh, T. L. (1994). Quantitative assessment of tactile allodynia in the rat paw. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, *53*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0270(94)90144-9
- Chen, D., Lou, Q., Song, X. J., Kang, F., Liu, A., Zheng, C., Li, Y., Wang, D., Qun, S., Zhang, Z., Cao, P., Jin, Y. (2024) Microglia govern the extinction of acute stress-induced anxiety-like behaviours in male mice. *Nature Communications*, *15.* https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-44704-6
- Clarkson, B. D., Walker, A., Harris, M., Rayasam, A., Sandor, M., & Fabry, Z. (2014). Mapping the accumulation of co-infiltrating CNS dendritic cells and encephalitogenic T cells during EAE. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 277(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.09.016
- Cohen, S. P., Vase, L., & Hooten, W. M. (2021). Chronic pain: an update on burden, best practices, and new advances. *The Lancet* (Vol. 397, Issue 10289). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00393-7
- Columba-Cabezas, S., Serafini, B., Ambrosini, E., & Aloisi, F. (2003). Lymphoid chemokines CCL19 and CCL21 are expressed in the central nervous system during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: Implications for the maintenance of chronic neuroinflammation. *Brain Pathology*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.2003.tb00005.x
- Constantinescu, C. S., Farooqi, N., O'Brien, K., & Gran, B. (2011). Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as a model for multiple sclerosis (MS). *British Journal of Pharmacology* (Vol. 164, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01302.x
- Corre, C., Friedel, M., Vousden, D. A., Metcalf, A., Spring, S., Qiu, L. R., Lerch, J. P., & Palmert, M. R. (2016). Separate effects of sex hormones and sex chromosomes on brain structure and function revealed by high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging and spatial navigation assessment of the Four Core Genotype mouse model. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0952-0
- Coull, J. A. M., Beggs, S., Boudreau, D., Boivin, D., Tsuda, M., Inoue, K., Gravel, C., Salter, M. W., & de Koninck, Y. (2005). BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. *Nature*, *438*(7070). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04223
- Daneman, R., & Prat, A. (2015). The Blood-Brain Barrier. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 7(1). doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a020412
- Davis, M. (1992). The role of the amygdala in fear and anxiety. *Annual Review of Neuroscience* (Vol. 15). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.15.030192.002033
- Dhaiban, S., Al-Ani, M., Elemam, N. M., & Maghazachi, A. A. (2020). Targeting chemokines and chemokine receptors in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Inflammation Research*, 13. https://doi.org/10.2147/JIR.S270872

- Dhakal S., Park H.S., Seddu, K., Lee, J., Creisher, P.S., Davis KM., Hernandez, IR., Maul., Klein, S.L. (2023). Estradiol mediates greater germinal center responses to influenza vaccination in female than male mice. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.11.27.568847
- Ding, Y., Hu, L., Wang, X., Sun, Q., Hu, T., Liu, J., Shen, D., Zhang, Y., Chen, W., Wei, C., Liu, M., Liu, D., Wang, P., Zhang, C., Zhang, J., Li, Q., & Yang, F. (2022). The contribution of spinal dorsal horn astrocytes in neuropathic pain at the early stage of EAE. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *175*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2022.105914
- Doss, P. M. I. A., Umair, M., Baillargeon, J., Fazazi, R., Fudge, N., Akbar, I., Yeola, A. P., Williams, J. B., Leclercq, M., Joly-Beauparlant, C., Beauchemin, P., Ruda, G. F., Alpaugh, M., Anderson, A. C., Brennan, P. E., Droit, A., Lassmann, H., Moore, C. S., & Rangachari, M. (2021). Male sex chromosomal complement exacerbates the pathogenicity of Th17 cells in a chronic model of central nervous system autoimmunity. *Cell Reports*, *34*(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.108833
- Draleau, K., Maddula, S., Slaiby, A., Nutile-McMenemy, N., Leo, J.D., Cao, L. (2014). Phenotypic Identification Of Spinal Cord-Infiltrating CD4+ T Lymphocytes In A Murine Model Of Neuropathic Pain. *Journal of Pain & Relief*, s3(01). https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0846.s3-003
- Dunstan, I. K., McLeod, R., Radford-Smith, D. E., Xiong, W., Pate, T., Probert, F., Anthony, D. C. (2024) Unique pathways downstream of TLR-4 and TLR-7 activation: sex-dependent behavioural, cytokine, and metabolic consequences. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience 18*. doi:10.3389/fncel.2024.1345441
- Dutra, R. C., Bento, A. F., Leite, D. F. P., Manjavachi, M. N., Marcon, R., Bicca, M. A., Pesquero, J. B., & Calixto, J. B. (2013). The role of kinin B1 and B2 receptors in the persistent pain induced by experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in mice: Evidence for the involvement of astrocytes. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *54*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2013.02.007
- Dworsky-Fried, Z., Faig, C. A., Vogel, H. A., Kerr, B. J., & Taylor, A. M. W. (2022). Central amygdala inflammation drives pain hypersensitivity and attenuates morphine analgesia in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Pain*, *163*(1). https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.0000000002307
- Fayaz, A., Croft, P., Langford, R. M., Donaldson, L. J., & Jones, G. T. (2016). Prevalence of chronic pain in the UK: A systematic review and meta-analysis of population studies. *BMJ Open*, 6(6). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010364
- Fenton, B. W., Shih, E., & Zolton, J. (2015). The neurobiology of pain perception in normal and persistent pain. *Pain management* (Vol. 5, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.2217/pmt.15.27
- Forbes, A., While, A., Mathes, L., & Griffiths, P. (2006). Health problems and health-related quality of life in people with multiple sclerosis. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1191/0269215506cr880oa

- Friedman, T. N., Yousuf, M. S., Catuneanu, A., Desai, M., Juźwik, C. A., Fournier, A. E., & Kerr, B. J. (2019). Profiling the microRNA signature of the peripheral sensory ganglia in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-019-1600-7
- Fu, K. Y., Light, A. R., Matsushima, G. K., & Maixner, W. (1999). Microglial reactions after subcutaneous formalin injection into the rat hind paw. *Brain Research*, 825(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01186-5
- Fülle, L., Offermann, N., Hansen, J. N., Breithausen, B., Erazo, A. B., Schanz, O., Radau, L., Gondorf, F., Knöpper, K., Alferink, J., Abdullah, Z., Neumann, H., Weighardt, H., Henneberger, C., Halle, A., & Förster, I. (2018). CCL17 exerts a neuroimmune modulatory function and is expressed in hippocampal neurons. *GLIA*, 66(10). https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23507
- Fülöp, B., Hunyady, Á., Bencze, N., Kormos, V., Szentes, N., Dénes, Á., Lénárt, N., Borbély, É., & Helyes,
   Z. (2023). IL-1 Mediates Chronic Stress-Induced Hyperalgesia Accompanied by Microglia and
   Astroglia Morphological Changes in Pain-Related Brain Regions in Mice. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24065479
- Garcia-Larrea, L., & Peyron, R. (2013). Pain matrices and neuropathic pain matrices: A review. *Pain*, *154*(SUPPL. 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.09.001
- Gonçalves, L., & Dickenson, A. H. (2012). Asymmetric time-dependent activation of right central amygdala neurones in rats with peripheral neuropathy and pregabalin modulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(9). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08235.x
- Gonzalez Caldito, N. (2023). Role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the central nervous system: a focus on autoimmune disorders. *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 14). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1213448
- Greenwood-Van Meerveld, B., Gibson, M., Gunter, W., Shepard, J., Foreman, R., & Myers, D. (2001). Stereotaxic delivery of corticosterone to the amygdala modulates colonic sensitivity in rats. *Brain Research*, 893(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(00)03305-9
- Grist, J. J., Marro, B. S., Skinner, D. D., Syage, A. R., Worne, C., Doty, D. J., Fujinami, R. S., & Lane, T. E. (2018). Induced CNS expression of CXCL1 augments neurologic disease in a murine model of multiple sclerosis via enhanced neutrophil recruitment. *European Journal of Immunology*, 48(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201747442
- Hadjimichael, O., Kerns, R. D., Rizzo, M. A., Cutter, G., & Vollmer, T. (2007). Persistent pain and uncomfortable sensations in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Pain*, 127(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2006.07.015
- Hammer, L. A., Zagon, I. S., & McLaughlin, P. J. (2015). Improved clinical behavior of established relapsing-remitting experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis following treatment with endogenous opioids: Implications for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2015.01.009

- Hao, S., & Baltimore, D. (2009). The stability of mRNA influences the temporal order of the induction of genes encoding inflammatory molecules. *Nature Immunology*, *10*(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1699
- Haruwaka, K., Ikegami, A., Tachibana, Y., Ohno, N., Konishi, H., Hashimoto, A., Matsumoto, M., Kato, D.,
  Ono, R., Kiyama, H., Moorhouse, A. J., Nabekura, J., & Wake, H. (2019). Dual microglia effects on blood brain barrier permeability induced by systemic inflammation. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13812-z
- Hashmi, J. A., Baliki, M. N., Huang, L., Baria, A. T., Torbey, S., Hermann, K. M., Schnitzer, T. J., & Apkarian, A. V. (2013). Shape shifting pain: Chronification of back pain shifts brain representation from nociceptive to emotional circuits. *Brain*, *136*(9). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt211
- Heath, H., Qin, S., Rao, P., Wu, L., LaRosa, G., Kassam, N., Ponath, P. D., & Mackay, C. R. (1997).
  Chemokine receptor usage by human eosinophils: The importance of CCR3 demonstrated using an antagonistic monoclonal antibody. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *99*(2).
  https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119145
- Hirsh, A. T., Turner, A. P., Ehde, D. M., & Haselkorn, J. K. (2009). Prevalence and Impact of Pain in Multiple Sclerosis: Physical and Psychologic Contributors. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 90(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2008.10.019
- Hughes, C. E., & Nibbs, R. J. B. (2018). A guide to chemokines and their receptors. *FEBS Journal* (Vol. 285, Issue 16). https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14466
- Huntemann, N., Vogelsang, A., Groeneweg, L., Willison, A., Herrmann, A. M., Meuth, S. G., & Eichler, S. (2022). An optimized and validated protocol for inducing chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6J mice. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2021.109443
- Inoue, K., & Tsuda, M. (2018). Microglia in neuropathic pain: Cellular and molecular mechanisms and therapeutic potential. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 19, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2018.2
- Itoh, N., Itoh, Y., Tassoni, A., Ren, E., Kaito, M., Ohno, A., Ao, Y., Farkhondeh, V., Johnsonbaugh, H., Burda, J., Sofroniew, M. v., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2017). Cell-specific and region-specific transcriptomics in the multiple sclerosis model: Focus on astrocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(2). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1716032115
- Itoh, Y., Golden, L. C., Itoh, N., Matsukawa, M. A., Ren, E., Tse, V., Arnold, A. P., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2019). The X-linked histone demethylase Kdm6a in CD4+ T lymphocytes modulates autoimmunity. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 129(9). https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI126250
- Ji, G., Horváth, C., & Neugebauer, V. (2009). NR2B receptor blockade inhibits pain-related sensitization of amygdala neurons. *Molecular Pain*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8069-5-21

- Ji, R. R., Donnelly, C. R., & Nedergaard, M. (2019). Astrocytes in chronic pain and itch. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 20, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-019-0218-1
- Jiang, B. C., Ding, T. Y., Guo, C. Y., Bai, X. H., Cao, D. L., Wu, X. B., Sha, W. L., Jiang, M., Wu, L. J., & Gao, Y. J. (2022a). NFAT1 Orchestrates Spinal Microglial Transcription and Promotes Microglial Proliferation via c-MYC Contributing to Nerve Injury-Induced Neuropathic Pain. *Advanced Science*, 9(27). https://doi.org/10.1002/advs.202201300
- Jiang, L., Hao, J., Yang, X. L., Zhu, J. X., Wang, Y., Huang, Y. L., Sun, Y. E., Mao, Y. T., Ni, K., Gu, X. P., Ma, Z. L. (2022b). Basolateral amygdala reactive microglia may contribute to synaptic impairment and depressive-like behaviour in mice with bone cancer pain. *Neurochemical Research 47*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-022-03731-9
- Jiang, B. C., He, L. N., Wu, X. B., Shi, H., Zhang, W. W., Zhang, Z. J., Cao, D. L., Li, C. H., Gu, J., & Gao, Y. J. (2017). Promoted interaction of C/EBPα with demethylated Cxcr3 gene promoter contributes to neuropathic pain in mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(3). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2262-16.2016
- Jiang, W., St-Pierre, S., Roy, P., Morley, B. J., Hao, J., & Simard, A. R. (2016). Infiltration of CCR2+Ly6Chigh Proinflammatory Monocytes and Neutrophils into the Central Nervous System Is Modulated by Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors in a Model of Multiple Sclerosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 196(5). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1501613
- Kandel, E. R., Koester, J. D., Mack, S. H., Sigelbaum, S. A. (2021) *Principles of Neural Science* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). McGraw-Hill, Health Professions Division.
- Khaw, Y. M., Tierney, A., Cunningham, C., Soto-Díaz, K., Kang, E., Steelman, A. J., & Inoue, M. (2021). Astrocytes lure CXCR2-expressing CD4+ T cells to gray matter via TAK1-mediated chemokine production in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*(8). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017213118
- Koh, W., Park, Y. M., Lee, S. E., & Lee, C. J. (2017). AAV-mediated astrocyte-specific gene expression under human ALDH1L1 promoter in mouse thalamus. *Experimental Neurobiology*, 26(6). https://doi.org/10.5607/en.2017.26.6.350
- Kong, Y. F., Sha, W. L., Wu, X. B., Zhao, L. X., Ma, L. J., & Gao, Y. J. (2021). CXCL10/CXCR3 Signaling in the DRG Exacerbates Neuropathic Pain in Mice. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 37(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-020-00608-1
- Kunkl, M., Amormino, C., Tedeschi, V., Fiorillo, M. T., & Tuosto, L. (2022). Astrocytes and Inflammatory T Helper Cells: A Dangerous Liaison in Multiple Sclerosis. *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 13). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.824411
- Lee, S., Jang, S. H., Suzuki-Narita, M., Gregoire, S., Millecamps, M., & Stone, L. S. (2022). Voluntary running attenuates behavioural signs of low back pain: dimorphic regulation of intervertebral disc inflammation in male and female SPARC-null mice. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 30(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2021.06.014

- Li, S., Fang, Y., Zhang, Y., Song, M., Zhang, X., Ding, X., Yao, H., Chen, M., Sun, Y., Ding, J., Wang, Q., Lu, M., Wu, G., & Hu, G. (2022). Microglial NLRP3 inflammasome activates neurotoxic astrocytes in depression-like mice. *Cell Reports*, *41*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111532
- Li, Z. Q., Yan, Z. Y., Lan, F. J., Dong, Y. Q., & Xiong, Y. (2018). Suppression of NLRP3 inflammasome attenuates stress-induced depression-like behavior in NLGN3-deficient mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 501(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.05.085
- Liddelow, S. A., Guttenplan, K. A., Clarke, L. E., Bennett, F. C., Bohlen, C. J., Schirmer, L., Bennett, M. L., Münch, A. E., Chung, W. S., Peterson, T. C., Wilton, D. K., Frouin, A., Napier, B. A., Panicker, N., Kumar, M., Buckwalter, M. S., Rowitch, D. H., Dawson, V. L., Dawson, T. M., ... Barres, B. A. (2017). Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. *Nature*, *541*(7638). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21029
- Lin, Y. L., Yang, Z. sen, Wong, W. Y., Lin, S. C., Wang, S. J., Chen, S. P., Cheng, J. K., Lu, H., & Lien, C.
   C. (2022). Cellular mechanisms underlying central sensitization in a mouse model of chronic muscle pain. *ELife*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.78610
- Linton, S. J., & Shaw, W. S. (2011). Impact of psychological factors in the experience of pain. *Physical Therapy* (Vol. 91, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20100330
- Liu, Y., Zhou, L. J., Wang, J., Li, D., Ren, W. J., Peng, J., Wei, X., Xu, T., Xin, W. J., Pang, R. P., Li, Y. Y., Qin, Z. H., Murugan, M., Mattson, M. P., Wu, L. J., & Liu, X. G. (2017). TNF-α differentially regulates synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus and spinal cord by microglia-dependent mechanisms after peripheral nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(4). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2235-16.2016
- Long, C. C., Sadler, K. E., & Kolber, B. J. (2016). Hormonal and molecular effects of restraint stress on formalin-induced pain-like behavior in male and female mice. *Physiology and Behavior*, 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.08.009
- Lopes, D. M., Malek, N., Edye, M., Jager, S. B., McMurray, S., McMahon, S. B., & Denk, F. (2017). Sex differences in peripheral not central immune responses to pain-inducing injury. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16664-z
- López-Cotarelo, P., Gómez-Moreira, C., Criado-García, O., Sánchez, L., & Rodríguez-Fernández, J. L. (2017). Beyond Chemoattraction: Multifunctionality of Chemokine Receptors in Leukocytes. *Trends in Immunology* (Vol. 38, Issue 12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2017.08.004
- Lu, H. J., & Gao, Y. J. (2023). Astrocytes in Chronic Pain: Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms. *Neuroscience Bulletin* (Vol. 39, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-022-00961-3
- Luo, X., Chen, O., Wang, Z., Bang, S., Ji, J., Lee, S. H., Huh, Y., Furutani, K., He, Q., Tao, X., Ko, M. C., Bortsov, A., Donnelly, C. R., Chen, Y., Nackley, A., Berta, T., & Ji, R. R. (2021). IL-23/IL-17A/TRPV1 axis produces mechanical pain via macrophage-sensory neuron crosstalk in female mice. *Neuron*, *109*(17). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2021.06.015

- Luo, X., Huh, Y., Bang, S., He, Q., Zhang, L., Matsuda, M., & Ji, R. R. (2019). Macrophage toll-like receptor 9 contributes to chemotherapy-induced neuropathic pain in male mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(35). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3257-18.2019
- Maguire, A. D., Friedman, T. N., Villarreal Andrade, D. N., Haq, F., Dunn, J., Pfeifle, K., Tenorio, G., Buro, K., Plemel, J. R., & Kerr, B. J. (2022). Sex differences in the inflammatory response of the mouse DRG and its connection to pain in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-25295-y
- Mahad, D. J., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2003). The role of MCP-1 (CCL2) and CCR2 in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Seminars in Immunology (Vol. 15, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1044-5323(02)00125-2
- Majidi-Zolbanin, J., Doosti, M. H., Kosari-Nasab, M., & Salari, A. A. (2015). Prenatal maternal immune activation increases anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors in offspring with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neuroscience*, 294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.03.016
- Marowsky, A., Burgener, J., Falck, J. R., Fritschy, J. M., & Arand, M. (2009). Distribution of soluble and microsomal epoxide hydrolase in the mouse brain and its contribution to cerebral epoxyeicosatrienoic acid metabolism. *Neuroscience*, *163*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.06.033
- Martin-Fernandez, M., Jamison, S., Robin, L. M., Zhao, Z., Martin, E. D., Aguilar, J., Benneyworth, M. A., Marsicano, G., & Araque, A. (2017). Synapse-specific astrocyte gating of amygdala-related behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, *20*(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4649
- Mazzitelli, M., Marshall, K., Pham, A., Ji, G., & Neugebauer, V. (2021). Optogenetic Manipulations of Amygdala Neurons Modulate Spinal Nociceptive Processing and Behavior Under Normal Conditions and in an Arthritis Pain Model. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.668337
- Mazzitelli, M., Yakhnitsa, V., Neugebauer, B., & Neugebauer, V. (2022). Optogenetic manipulations of CeA-CRF neurons modulate pain- and anxiety-like behaviors in neuropathic pain and control rats. *Neuropharmacology*, 210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2022.109031
- McCarthy, G. M., Warden, A. S., Bridges, C. R., Blednov, Y. A., & Harris, R. A. (2018). Chronic ethanol consumption: role of TLR3/TRIF-dependent signaling. *Addiction Biology*, 23(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12539
- McGinley, M. P., Goldschmidt, C. H., & Rae-Grant, A. D. (2021). Diagnosis and Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis: A Review. JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association (Vol. 325, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.26858

- Melincovici, C. S., Boşca, A. B., Şuşman, S., Mărginean, M., Mihu, C., Istrate, M., Moldovan, I. M., Roman, A. L., & Mihu, C. M. (2018). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) – key factor in normal and pathological angiogenesis. *Romanian Journal of Morphology and Embryology* (Vol. 59, Issue 2).
- Michailidis, V., Lidhar, N. K., Cho, C., & Martin, L. J. (2021). Characterizing Sex Differences in Depressive-Like Behavior and Glial Brain Cell Changes Following Peripheral Nerve Injury in Mice. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2021.758251
- Mifflin, K. A., Frieser, E., Benson, C., Baker, G., & Kerr, B. J. (2017). Voluntary wheel running differentially affects disease outcomes in male and female mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, *305*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.02.005
- Mifflin, K. A., Yousuf, M. S., Thorburn, K. C., Huang, J., Pérez-Muñoz, M. E., Tenorio, G., Walter, J., Ballanyi, K., Drohomyrecky, P. C., Dunn, S. E., & Kerr, B. J. (2019). Voluntary wheel running reveals sex-specific nociceptive factors in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Pain*, *160*(4). https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001465
- Mills, J. H., Alabanza, L. M., Mahamed, D. A., & Bynoe, M. S. (2012). Extracellular adenosine signaling induces CX3CL1 expression in the brain to promote experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-9-193
- Mirabelli, E., Ni, L., Li, L., Acioglu, C., Heary, R. F., & Elkabes, S. (2019). Pathological pain processing in mouse models of multiple sclerosis and spinal cord injury: Contribution of plasma membrane calcium ATPase 2 (PMCA2). *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-019-1585-2
- Mogil, J. S., & Chanda, M. L. (2005). The case for the inclusion of female subjects in basic science studies of pain. *Pain* (Vol. 117, Issues 1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.06.020
- Nacka-Aleksić, M., Djikić, J., Pilipović, I., Stojić-Vukanić, Z., Kosec, D., Bufan, B., Arsenović-Ranin, N., Dimitrijević, M., & Leposavić, G. (2015). Male rats develop more severe experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis than female rats: Sexual dimorphism and diergism at the spinal cord level. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.04.017
- Nascimento, G. C., Lucas, G., & Leite-Panissi, C. R. A. (2023). Emerging role of microglia and astrocyte in the affective-motivational response induced by a rat model of persistent orofacial pain. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2023.02.005

Ness, T. L., Hogaboam, C. M., & Kunkel, S. L. (2006). CHEMOKINES, CC | TARC (CCL17). *Encyclopedia* of Respiratory Medicine: Volume 1-4 (Vols. 1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-370879-6/00465-8

Neugebauer, V. (2015). Amygdala pain mechanisms. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, 227. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-46450-2\_13

- Neugebauer, V., Mazzitelli, M., Cragg, B., Ji, G., Navratilova, E., & Porreca, F. (2020). Amygdala, neuropeptides, and chronic pain-related affective behaviors. *Neuropharmacology* (Vol. 170). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2020.108052
- Oghumu, S., Varikuti, S., Stock, J. C., Volpedo, G., Saljoughian, N., Terrazas, C. A., & Satoskar, A. R.
   (2019). Cutting Edge: CXCR3 Escapes X Chromosome Inactivation in T Cells during Infection: Potential Implications for Sex Differences in Immune Responses. *The Journal of Immunology*, 203(4). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1800931
- Olechowski, C. J., Truong, J. J., & Kerr, B. J. (2009). Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronic-relapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *Pain*, *141*(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2008.11.002
- Osborne, N. R., & Davis, K. D. (2022). Sex and gender differences in pain. *International Review of Neurobiology* (Vol. 164). https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2022.06.013
- Österberg, A., Boivie, J., & Thuomas, K. Å. (2005). Central pain in multiple sclerosis Prevalence and clinical characteristics. *European Journal of Pain*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.11.005
- Panten, J., Prete, S. D., Cleland, J. P., Saunders, L. M., Riet, J. V., Schneider, A., Ginno, P., Schneider, N., Kock, M. L., Gerstung, M., Stegle, O., Turner, J. M. A., Heard, E., Odom, D. T. (2023). Four-Core Genotypes mice harbour a 3.2MB X-Y translocation that perturbs Tlr7 dosage. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.12.04.569933
- Papenfuss, T. L., Rogers, C. J., Gienapp, I., Yurrita, M., McClain, M., Damico, N., Valo, J., Song, F., & Whitacre, C. C. (2004). Sex differences in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in multiple murine strains. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, *150*(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.01.018
- Park, J., Miyakawa, T., Shiokawa, A., Nakajima-Adachi, H., Tanokura, M., & Hachimura, S. (2014). Attenuation of migration properties of CD4+ T cells from aged mice correlates with decrease in chemokine receptor expression, response to retinoic acid, and RALDH expression compared to young mice. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 78(6). https://doi.org/10.1080/09168451.2014.910099
- Pawelec, P., Ziemka-Nalecz, M., Sypecka, J., & Zalewska, T. (2020). The Impact of the CX3CL1/CX3CR1 Axis in Neurological Disorders. *Cells* (Vol. 9, Issue 10). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9102277
- Perry, V. H., & Teeling, J. (2013). Microglia and macrophages of the central nervous system: The contribution of microglia priming and systemic inflammation to chronic neurodegeneration. *Seminars in Immunopathology* (Vol. 35, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-013-0382-8
- Pitteri, M., Genova, H., Lengenfelder, J., DeLuca, J., Ziccardi, S., Rossi, V., & Calabrese, M. (2019). Social cognition deficits and the role of amygdala in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis patients without cognitive impairment. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders, 29*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2019.01.030

- Plemel, J. R., Stratton, J. A., Michaels, N. J., Rawji, K. S., Zhang, E., Sinha, S., Baaklini, C. S., Dong, Y., Ho, M., Thorburn, K., Friedman, T. N., Jawad, S., Silva, C., Caprariello, A. v., Hoghooghi, V., Yue, J., Jaffer, A., Lee, K., Kerr, B. J., ... Wee Yong, V. (2020). Microglia response following acute demyelination is heterogeneous and limits infiltrating macrophage dispersion. *Science Advances*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay6324
- Presto, P., & Neugebauer, V. (2022). Sex Differences in CGRP Regulation and Function in the Amygdala in a Rat Model of Neuropathic Pain. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, *15*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2022.928587
- Rapp, M., Wintergerst, M. W. M., Kunz, W. G., Vetter, V. K., Knott, M. M. L., Lisowski, D., Haubner, S.,
  Moder, S., Thaler, R., Eiber, S., Meyer, B., Röhrle, N., Piseddu, I., Grassmann, S., Layritz, P.,
  Kühnemuth, B., Stutte, S., Bourquin, C., von Andrian, U. H., ... Anz, D. (2019). CCL22 controls
  immunity by promoting regulatory T cell communication with dendritic cells in lymph nodes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *216*(5). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20170277
- Rappert, A., Biber, K., Nolte, C., Lipp, M., Schubel, A., Lu, B., Gerard, N. P., Gerard, C., Boddeke, H. W.
   G. M., & Kettenmann, H. (2002). Secondary Lymphoid Tissue Chemokine (CCL21) Activates
   CXCR3 to Trigger a CI– Current and Chemotaxis in Murine Microglia. *The Journal of Immunology*, *168*(7). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.168.7.3221
- Regev, L., Tsoory, M., Gil, S., & Chen, A. (2012). Site-specific genetic manipulation of amygdala corticotropin-releasing factor reveals its imperative role in mediating behavioral response to challenge. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.05.036
- Rice, A. S. C., Smith, B. H., & Blyth, F. M. (2016). Pain and the global burden of disease. *Pain*, *157*(4). https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000454
- Rodríguez-Lozano, D. C., Meza-Rodríguez, M. del P., Cruz-Orozco, O. P., Sánchez-Ramírez, B., Olguin-Ortega, A., Silvestri-Tomassoni, J. R., Corona-Barsse, G., Escobar-Ponce, L. F., Solis-Paredes, J. M., Dominguez-Trejo, B., & Camacho-Arroyo, I. (2022). Emotional dysregulation in women with endometriosis with cyclical and non-cyclical chronic pelvic pain. *BMC Women's Health*, *22*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-022-02066-5
- Romagnani, S. (1999). Th1/Th2 cells. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases*, *5*(4). https://doi.org/10.1097/00054725-199911000-00009
- Rosen, J. B., & Schulkin, J. (1998). From Normal Fear to Pathological Anxiety. *Psychological Review* (Vol. 105, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.105.2.325
- Rothhammer, V., Borucki, D. M., Tjon, E. C., Takenaka, M. C., Chao, C. C., Ardura-Fabregat, A., de Lima, K. A., Gutiérrez-Vázquez, C., Hewson, P., Staszewski, O., Blain, M., Healy, L., Neziraj, T., Borio, M., Wheeler, M., Dragin, L. L., Laplaud, D. A., Antel, J., Alvarez, J. I., ... Quintana, F. J. (2018).
  Microglial control of astrocytes in response to microbial metabolites. *Nature*, *557*(7707). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0119-x

- Ruland, C., Renken, H., Kuzmanov, I., Fattahi Mehr, A., Schwarte, K., Cerina, M., Herrmann, A., Otte, D. M., Zimmer, A., Schwab, N., Meuth, S. G., Arolt, V., Klotz, L., Förster, I., Scheu, S., & Alferink, J. (2017). Chemokine CCL17 is expressed by dendritic cells in the CNS during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and promotes pathogenesis of disease. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.06.010
- Russi, A. E., Walker-Caulfield, M. E., Guo, Y., Lucchinetti, C. F., & Brown, M. A. (2016). Meningeal mast cell-T cell crosstalk regulates T cell encephalitogenicity. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, 73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2016.06.015
- Saederup, N., Cardona, A. E., Croft, K., Mizutani, M., Cotleur, A. C., Tsou, C. L., Ransohoff, R. M., & Charo, I. F. (2010). Selective chemokine receptor usage by central nervous system myeloid cells in CCR2-red fluorescent protein knock-in mice. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013693
- Sagalajev, B., Wei, H., Chen, Z., Albayrak, I., Koivisto, A., & Pertovaara, A. (2018). Oxidative Stress in the Amygdala Contributes to Neuropathic Pain. *Neuroscience*, 387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.12.009
- Salvador, A. F., de Lima, K. A., & Kipnis, J. (2021). Neuromodulation by the immune system: a focus on cytokines. *Nature Reviews Immunology* (Vol. 21, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-021-00508-z
- Sayed, B. A., Christy, A. L., Walker, M. E., & Brown, M. A. (2010). Meningeal Mast Cells Affect Early T Cell Central Nervous System Infiltration and Blood-Brain Barrier Integrity through TNF: A Role for Neutrophil Recruitment? *The Journal of Immunology*, *184*(12). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1000126
- Scapini, P., Lapinet-Vera, J. A., Gasperini, S., Calzetti, F., Bazzoni, F., & Cassatella, M. A. (2000). The neutrophil as a cellular source of chemokines. *Immunological Reviews* (Vol. 177). https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-065X.2000.17706.x
- Scheu, S., Ali, S., Ruland, C., Arolt, V., & Alferink, J. (2017). The C-C chemokines CCL17 and CCL22 and their receptor CCR4 in CNS autoimmunity. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 18, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18112306
- Schmitz, K., Pickert, G., Wijnvoord, N., Häussler, A., & Tegeder, I. (2013). Dichotomy of CCL21 and CXCR3 in nerve injury-evoked and autoimmunity-evoked hyperalgesia. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2013.04.011
- Schober, A. (2008). Chemokines in vascular dysfunction and remodeling. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* (Vol. 28, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.161224
- Schubert, D. S. P., & Foliart, R. H. (1993). Increased Depression in Multiple Sclerosis Patients: A Meta-Analysis. *Psychosomatics* (Vol. 34, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3182(93)71902-7

- Segal, J. P., Bannerman, C. A., Silva, J. R., Haird, C. M., Baharnoori, M., Gilron, I., & Ghasemlou, N. (2020). Chronic mechanical hypersensitivity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is regulated by disease severity and neuroinflammation. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.07.010
- Shaw, G., & Kamen, R. (1986). A conserved AU sequence from the 3' untranslated region of GM-CSF mRNA mediates selective mRNA degradation. *Cell*, 46(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(86)90341-7
- Shen, H., Yanas, A., Owens, M. C., Zhang, C., Fritsch, C., Fare, C. M., Copley, K. E., Shorter, J., Goldman, Y. E., & Liu, K. F. (2022). Sexually dimorphic RNA helicases DDX3X and DDX3Y differentially regulate RNA metabolism through phase separation. *Molecular Cell*, 82(14). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2022.04.022
- Shepard, J. D., Barron, K. W., & Myers, D. A. (2000). Corticosterone delivery to the amygdala increases corticotropin-releasing factor mRNA in the central amygdaloid nucleus and anxiety-like behavior. *Brain Research*, 861(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02019-9
- Shou, J., Peng, J., Zhao, Z., Huang, X., Li, H., Li, L., Gao, X., Xing, Y., & Liu, H. (2019). CCL26 and CCR3 are associated with the acute inflammatory response in the CNS in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.576967
- Silva, R. L., Lopes, A. H., Guimarães, R. M., & Cunha, T. M. (2017). CXCL1/CXCR2 signaling in pathological pain: Role in peripheral and central sensitization. *Neurobiology of Disease* (Vol. 105). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2017.06.001
- Simmons, S. B., Liggitt, D., & Goverman, J. M. (2014). Cytokine-Regulated Neutrophil Recruitment Is Required for Brain but Not Spinal Cord Inflammation during Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 193(2). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400807
- Singer, T., Seymour, B., O'Doherty, J., Kaube, H., Dolan, R. J., & Frith, C. D. (2004). Empathy for Pain Involves the Affective but not Sensory Components of Pain. *Science*, *303*(5661). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1093535
- Smith, J. A., Das, A., Ray, S. K., & Banik, N. L. (2012). Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Research Bulletin* (Vol. 87, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.10.004
- Smith, M. L., Asada, N., & Malenka, R. C. (2021). Anterior cingulate inputs to nucleus accumbens control the social transfer of pain and analgesia. *Science*, 371(6525). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abe3040
- Smith, M. L., Hostetler, C. M., Heinricher, M. M., & Ryabinin, A. E. (2016). Social transfer of pain in mice. Science Advances, 2(10). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600855

- Smith-Bouvier, D. L., Divekar, A. A., Sasidhar, M., Du, S., Tiwari-Woodruff, S. K., King, J. K., Arnold, A. P., Singh, R. R., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2008). A role for sex chromosome complement in the female bias in autoimmune disease. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 205(5). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20070850
- Sorge, R. E., Mapplebeck, J. C. S., Rosen, S., Beggs, S., Taves, S., Alexander, J. K., Martin, L. J., Austin, J. S., Sotocinal, S. G., Chen, D., Yang, M., Shi, X. Q., Huang, H., Pillon, N. J., Bilan, P. J., Tu, Y., Klip, A., Ji, R. R., Zhang, J., ... Mogil, J. S. (2015). Different immune cells mediate mechanical pain hypersensitivity in male and female mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, *18*(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4053
- Spence, R. D., Hamby, M. E., Umeda, E., Itoh, N., Du, S., Wisdom, A. J., Cao, Y., Bondar, G., Lama, J., Ao, Y., Sandoval, F., Suriany, S., Sofroniew, M. v., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2011). Neuroprotection mediated through estrogen receptor-α in astrocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *108*(21). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103833108
- Šutulović, N., Vesković, M., Puškaš, N., Zubelić, A., Jerotić, D., Šuvakov, S., Despotović, S., Grubač, Ž., Mladenović, D., Macut, D., Rašić-Marković, A., Simić, T., Stanojlović, O., & Hrnčić, D. (2023). Chronic Prostatitis/Chronic Pelvic Pain Syndrome Induces Depression-Like Behavior and Learning-Memory Impairment: A Possible Link with Decreased Hippocampal Neurogenesis and Astrocyte Activation. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/3199988
- Szappanos, D., Tschismarov, R., Perlot, T., Westermayer, S., Fischer, K., Platanitis, E., Kallinger, F.,
  Novatchkova, M., Lassnig, C., Müller, M., Sexl, V., Bennett, K. L., Foong-Sobis, M., Penninger, J.
  M., & Decker, T. (2018). The RNA helicase DDX3X is an essential mediator of innate antimicrobial immunity. *PLoS Pathogens*, *14*(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007397
- Tassoni, A., Farkhondeh, V., Itoh, Y., Itoh, N., Sofroniew, M. v., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2019). The astrocyte transcriptome in EAE optic neuritis shows complement activation and reveals a sex difference in astrocytic C3 expression. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-46232-6
- Taylor, A. M. W., Mehrabani, S., Liu, S., Taylor, A. J., & Cahill, C. M. (2017). Topography of microglial activation in sensory- and affect-related brain regions in chronic pain. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 95(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23883
- Tölle, T., Dukes, E., & Sadosky, A. (2006). Patient burden of trigeminal neuralgia: Results from a crosssectional survey of health state impairment and treatment patterns in six European countries. *Pain Practice*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-2500.2006.00079.x
- Trifunovic, S., Stevanovic, I., Milosevic, A., Ristic, N., Janjic, M., Bjelobaba, I., Savic, D., Bozic, I.,
  Jakovljevic, M., Tesovic, K., Laketa, D., & Lavrnja, I. (2021). The Function of the Hypothalamic–
  Pituitary–Adrenal Axis During Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis: Involvement of
  Oxidative Stress Mediators. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *15*.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.649485

- Tsujikawa, S., DeMeulenaere, K. E., Centeno, M. v., Ghazisaeidi, S., Martin, M. E., Tapies, M. R., Maneshi, M. M., Yamashita, M., Stauderman, K. A., Apkarian, A. v., Salter, M. W., & Prakriya, M. (2023). Regulation of neuropathic pain by microglial Orai1 channels. *Science Advances*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.ade7002
- Villarreal, A., Vidos, C., Monteverde Busso, M., Cieri, M. B., & Ramos, A. J. (2021). Pathological Neuroinflammatory Conversion of Reactive Astrocytes Is Induced by Microglia and Involves Chromatin Remodeling. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.689346
- Vore, A. S., Barney, T. M., Deak, M. M., Varlinskaya, E. I., & Deak, T. (2022). Adolescent intermittent ethanol exposure produces Sex-Specific changes in BBB Permeability: A potential role for VEGFA. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2022.02.030
- Voskuhl, R. R., & Palaszynski, K. (2001). Sex hormones in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: Implications for multiple sclerosis. *Neuroscientist* (Vol. 7, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1177/107385840100700310
- Voskuhl, R. R., Peterson, R. S., Song, B., Ao, Y., Morales, L. B. J., Tiwari-Woodruff, S., & Sofroniew, M. v. (2009). Reactive astrocytes form scar-like perivascular barriers to leukocytes during adaptive immune inflammation of the CNS. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(37). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1514-09.2009
- Voskuhl, R. R., Pitchekian-Halabi, H., MacKenzie-Graham, A., McFarland, H. F., & Raine, C. S. (1996). Gender differences in autoimmune demyelination in the mouse: Implications for multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, *39*(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410390608
- Wahis, J., Baudon, A., Althammer, F., Kerspern, D., Goyon, S., Hagiwara, D., Lefevre, A., Barteczko, L., Boury-Jamot, B., Bellanger, B., Abatis, M., da Silva Gouveia, M., Benusiglio, D., Eliava, M., Rozov, A., Weinsanto, I., Knobloch-Bollmann, H. S., Kirchner, M. K., Roy, R. K., ... Charlet, A. (2021). Astrocytes mediate the effect of oxytocin in the central amygdala on neuronal activity and affective states in rodents. *Nature Neuroscience*, *24*(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-021-00800-0
- Wang, H., Newton, G., Wu, L., Lin, L. L., Miracco, A. S., Natesan, S., & Luscinskas, F. W. (2021). CD47 antibody blockade suppresses microglia-dependent phagocytosis and monocyte transition to macrophages, impairing recovery in EAE. *JCI Insight*, 6(21). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.148719
- Wang, I. C., Chung, C. Y., Liao, F., Chen, C. C., & Lee, C. H. (2017). Peripheral sensory neuron injury contributes to neuropathic pain in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Scientific Reports*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42304
- Wang, J., Zhang, F., Xu, H., Yang, H., Shao, M., Xu, S., & Lyu, F. (2022). TLR4 aggravates microglial pyroptosis by promoting DDX3X-mediated NLRP3 inflammasome activation via JAK2/STAT1 pathway after spinal cord injury. *Clinical and Translational Medicine*, *12*(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/ctm2.894

- Wang, Y., Cao, P., Mei, L., Yin, W., Mao, Y., Niu, C., Zhang, Z., & Tao, W. (2019). Microglia in the Primary Somatosensory Barrel Cortex Mediate Trigeminal Neuropathic Pain. *Neuroscience*, 414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.05.034
- Wheeler, M. A., Clark, I. C., Tjon, E. C., Li, Z., Zandee, S. E. J., Couturier, C. P., Watson, B. R., Scalisi, G., Alkwai, S., Rothhammer, V., Rotem, A., Heyman, J. A., Thaploo, S., Sanmarco, L. M., Ragoussis, J., Weitz, D. A., Petrecca, K., Moffitt, J. R., Becher, B., ... Quintana, F. J. (2020). MAFG-driven astrocytes promote CNS inflammation. *Nature*, *578*(7796). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-1999-0
- Whitacre, C. C. (2001). Sex differences in autoimmune disease. *Nature Immunology* (Vol. 2, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1038/ni0901-777
- Wiedrick, J., Meza-Romero, R., Gerstner, G., Seifert, H., Chaudhary, P., Headrick, A., Kent, G., Maestas,
   A., Offner, H., & Vandenbark, A. A. (2021). Sex differences in EAE reveal common and distinct cellular and molecular components. *Cellular Immunology*, 359.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104242
- Wiktorowska, L., Bilecki, W., Tertil, M., Kudla, L., Szumiec, L., Mackowiak, M., & Przewlocki, R. (2021). Knockdown of the astrocytic glucocorticoid receptor in the central nucleus of the amygdala diminishes conditioned fear expression and anxiety. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2020.113095
- Wilson, T. D., Valdivia, S., Khan, A., Ahn, H. S., Adke, A. P., Gonzalez, S. M., Sugimura, Y. K., & Carrasquillo, Y. (2019). Dual and Opposing Functions of the Central Amygdala in the Modulation of Pain. *Cell Reports*, 29(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.09.011
- Won, C., Park, H. J., & Shin, H. C. (1995). Interleukin-1 β facilitates afferent sensory transmission in the primary somatosensory cortex of anesthetized rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 201(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(95)12185-4
- Xu, G., Li, Y., Ma, C., Wang, C., Sun, Z., Shen, Y., Liu, L., Li, S., Zhang, X., & Cong, B. (2019). Restraint stress induced hyperpermeability and damage of the blood-brain barrier in the amygdala of adult rats. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2019.00032
- Yan, P., Liu, N., Kim, G. M., Xu, J., Xu, J., Li, Q., Hsu, C. Y., & Xu, X. M. (2003). Expression of the type 1 and type 2 receptors for tumor necrosis factor after traumatic spinal cord injury in adult rats. *Experimental Neurology*, 183(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-4886(03)00135-3
- Yi, W., Schlüter, D., & Wang, X. (2019). Astrocytes in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: Star-shaped cells illuminating the darkness of CNS autoimmunity. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* (Vol. 80). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2019.05.029
- Yousuf, M. S., Noh, M. C., Friedman, T. N., Zubkow, K., Johnson, J. C., Tenorio, G., Kurata, H. T., Smith, P. A., & Kerr, B. J. (2019). Sensory neurons of the dorsal root ganglia become hyperexcitable in a t-cell-mediated MOG-EAE model of multiple sclerosis. *ENeuro*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0024-19.2019

- Yuan, T., Manohar, K., Latorre, R., Orock, A., & Greenwood-Van Meerveld, B. (2020). Inhibition of Microglial Activation in the Amygdala Reverses Stress-Induced Abdominal Pain in the Male Rat. *CMGH*, *10*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.04.020
- Yuan, T., Orock, A., & Greenwood-VanMeerveld, B. (2022). An enriched environment reduces chronic stress-induced visceral pain through modulating microglial activity in the central nucleus of the amygdala. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 322(2). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00307.2021
- Yuan, T., Orock, A., & Greenwood-Van Meerveld, B. (2021). Amygdala microglia modify neuronal plasticity via complement C1q/C3-CR3 signaling and contribute to visceral pain in a rat model. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 320(6). https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPGI.00123.2021
- Zhang, J., Harada, Y., & Hayashi, Y. (2019a). A TLR–CXCL1 pathway in DRG neurons induces neutrophil accumulation in the DRG and mechanical allodynia in EAE mice. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48558-7
- Zhang, M., Deng, X., Guan, X., Geng, L., Fu, M., Zhang, B., Chen, R., Hu, H., Hu, K., Zhang, D., Li, M., Liu, Y., Gong, S., & Hu, Q. (2018). Herpes Simplex Virus Type 2 Infection-Induced Expression of CXCR3 Ligands Promotes CD4+ T Cell Migration and Is Regulated by the Viral Immediate-Early Protein ICP4. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02932
- Zhang, Z., Ma, Z., Zou, W., Guo, H., Liu, M., Ma, Y., & Zhang, L. (2019b). The Appropriate Marker for Astrocytes: Comparing the Distribution and Expression of Three Astrocytic Markers in Different Mouse Cerebral Regions. *BioMed Research International*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/9605265
- Zhu, W., Acosta, C., MacNeil, B., Cortes, C., Intrater, H., Gong, Y., Namaka, M. (2013). Elevated Expression of Fractalkine (CX3CL1) and Fractalkine Receptor (CX3CR1) in the Dorsal Root Ganglia and Spinal Cord in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis: Implications in Multiple Sclerosis-Induced Neuropathic Pain. *BioMed Research International.* https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/480702
- Zimmer, Z., Fraser, K., Grol-Prokopczyk, H., & Zajacova, A. (2022). A global study of pain prevalence across 52 countries: Examining the role of country-level contextual factors. *Pain*, *163*(9). https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000002557

### Appendix



Fig. S1: Gonadal females reach disease onset earlier than gonadal males in EAE, regardless of chromosome complement.



**Fig. S2: Gonadal females have reduced nociceptive thresholds in response to CFA control injection. (A)** At disease onset, gonadal females in the control CFA group have lower mechanical thresholds than gonadal males. No difference between EAE mechanical thresholds were found. **(B)** At disease onset, no difference between XX or XY mice was found in either CFA control or EAE conditions.



Fig. S3: Baseline mechanical nociceptive thresholds of FCG mice do not differ.



Fig. S4: Thermal nociceptive thresholds decline in FCG EAE mice 1 day prior to disease onset.



**Fig. S5: EAE cytokine dysregulation is similar within the amygdala between FCG mice and WT C57BI/6J mice. (A)** Cytokine dysregulation within the amygdala of FCG mice in EAE compared to CFA controls. All sexes are pooled. **(B)** Cytokine dysregulation within the amygdala of WT C57BI/6J mice. Sexes are pooled. Horizontal dotted lines on volcano plots represent the significance threshold set at p < 0.05.



### Fig. S6: EAE induces significant cytokine dysregulation in the somatosensory cortex of FCG mice.

(A) Dysregulated cytokines within the somatosensory cortex of all FCG mice in EAE compared to CFA controls. (B-E) XXM and XYF genotypes display greater cytokine dysregulation than the XXF genotype, which has greater dysregulation than XYM mice. Horizontal dotted lines on volcano plots represent the significance threshold set at p < 0.05.







**Fig. S8: Greater cytokine expression in CFA controls of males does not hide an inflammatory profile in the amygdala of EAE males. (A)** Gonadal female controls express greater CCL4 than male controls in the amygdala. (B) XYF controls have greater CCL11 expression in the amygdala than other genotypes. (C) XYF controls have lower CCL21 expression in the amygdala than other genotypes. (D) XYF controls have higher expression of CCL22 in the amygdala than other genotypes. (E) XY controls have significantly greater expression of CXCL10 in the amygdala than XX controls. (F) XXF controls have lower EPO than XYF controls. (G) XY controls have higher IL-9 expression in the amygdala than XX controls. (H) XYF controls express the same amount of IL-10 as XXF controls, but XYM controls have higher expression of IL-10 than XXM mice in the amygdala. (I) XYM controls express lower IL-11 than other genotypes.



○ CFA ○ EAE

Fig. S9: Differential expression of cytokine positive cells within the BLA or the IC does not explain the sex differences observed within the Luminex multiplex immunoassay of the amygdala. RNAscope data for *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl10*, *II1* $\beta$ , and *Tnf* $\alpha$  positive cells in the BLA and the IC of WT males and females. (A) Within the BLA, WT females do not have greater upregulation of cytokine expressing cells than WT males in EAE. (B) Within the IC, WT females do not have greater upregulation of cytokine expressing cells than WT males in EAE.